

SOLO Office – Forest Edition[®]





SOLO Office – Forest Edition[®]

Version 4.1.2 Revision A April 2014



ii

SOFTWARE LICENSE AGREEMENT

IMPORTANT: BY INSTALLING, OPENING THE SEALED DISK PACKAGE, OR OTHERWISE USING THIS SOFTWARE, YOU ARE AGREEING TO BE BOUND BY THE TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THIS SOFTWARE LICENSE AGREEMENT AND LIMITATIONS OF LIABILITY ("Agreement"). THIS AGREEMENT CONSTITUTES THE COMPLETE AGREEMENT BETWEEN YOU AND TRIMBLE NAVIGATION ("LICENSOR"). CAREFULLY READ THE AGREEMENT AND IF YOU DO NOT AGREE WITH THE TERMS, DO NOT INSTALL OR USE THE SOFTWARE PRODUCT. IF YOU PURCHASED THE SOFTWARE PRODUCT, RETURN THE UNOPENED DISK PACKAGE AND THE ACCOMPANYING ITEMS (including written materials and binders or other containers) TO THE PLACE WHERE YOU OBTAINED THEM FOR A FULL REFUND.

LICENSE. LICENSOR grants to you a limited, non-exclusive license to (i) install and operate the copy of the computer program and any components, add-ons, plug-ins and interfaces thereof contained in this package or downloaded from the server ("Program") on a single computer (one central processing unit and associated monitor and keyboard) and (ii) make one archival copy of the Program for use with the same computer. LICENSOR retains all rights to the Program not expressly granted in this Agreement.

OWNERSHIP OF PROGRAMS AND COPIES. This license is not a sale of the original Program or any copies. LICENSOR retains the ownership of the Program and all subsequent copies of the Program made by you, regardless of the form in which the copies may exist. The Program and accompanying manuals ("Documentation") are copyrighted works of authorship and contain valuable trade secrets and confidential information proprietary to LICENSOR. You agree to exercise reasonable efforts to protect LICENSOR'S proprietary interest in the Program and Documentation and maintain them in strict confidence.

USER RESTRICTIONS. You may physically transfer the Program from one computer to another provided that the Program is operated only on one computer. You may not electronically transfer the Program or operate it in a time-sharing or service bureau operation. You agree not to translate, modify, adapt, disassemble, decompile, or reverse engineer the Program, or create derivative works based on the Program or Documentation or any portions thereof.

TRANSFER. The Program is provided for use in your internal commercial business operations and must remain at all times upon a single computer owned or leased by you. You may not rent, lease, sublicense, sell, assign, pledge, transfer or otherwise dispose of the Program or Documentation, on a temporary or permanent basis, without the prior written consent of LICENSOR.

TERMINATION. This License is effective until terminated. This License will terminate automatically without notice from LICENSOR if you fail to comply with any provision of this License. Upon termination you must cease all use of the Program and Documentation and return them, and any copies thereof, to LICENSOR.

GENERAL. This Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the State of California and applicable United States Federal law without reference to "conflict of laws" principles or provisions. The United Nations Convention on Contracts for the International Sale of Goods will not apply to this Agreement. Jurisdiction and venue of any dispute or court action arising from or related to this Agreement or the Program shall lie exclusively in or be transferred to the courts the County of Santa Clara, California, and/or the United States District Court for the Northern District of California. You hereby consent and agree not to contest, such jurisdiction, venue and governing law.

The foregoing notwithstanding, if you acquired this product in Canada, this Agreement is governed by the laws of the Province of Ontario, Canada. In such case each of the parties to this Agreement irrevocably attorns to the jurisdiction of the courts of the Province of Ontario and further agrees to commence any

litigation that may arise under this Agreement in the courts located in the Judicial District of York, Province of Ontario. If you acquired this product in the European Union, this Agreement is governed by the laws of The Netherlands, excluding its rules governing conflicts of laws and excluding the United Nations Convention on the International Sale of Goods. In such case each of the parties to this Agreement irrevocably attorns to the jurisdiction of the courts of The Netherlands and further agrees to commence any litigation that may arise under this Agreement in the courts of The Hague, The Netherlands.

LICENSOR reserves all rights not expressly granted by this Agreement.

The official language of this Agreement is English. For purposes of interpretation, or in the event of a conflict between English and versions of this Agreement in any other language, the English language version shall be controlling.

LIMITED WARRANTIES AND LIMITATION OF LIABILITY

LICENSOR grants solely to you a limited warranty that (i) the media on which the Program is distributed shall be substantially free from material defects for a period of NINETY (90) DAYS, and (ii) the Program will perform substantially in accordance with the material descriptions in the Documentation for a period of NINETY (90) DAYS. These warranties commence on the day you first obtain the Program and extend only to you, the original customer. These limited warranties give you specific legal rights, and you may have other rights which vary from state to state.

Except as specified above, LICENSOR MAKES NO WARRANTIES OR REPRESENTATIONS, EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, REGARDING THE PROGRAM, MEDIA OR DOCUMENTATION AND HEREBY EXPRESSLY DISCLAIMS THE WARRANTIES OF MERCHANTABILITY AND FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE. LICENSOR does not warrant the Program will meet your requirements or that its operations will be uninterrupted or error-free.

If the media, Program or Documentation are not as warranted above, LICENSOR will, at its option, repair or replace the nonconforming item at no cost to you, or refund your money, provided you return the item, with proof of the date you obtained it, to LICENSOR within TEN (10) DAYS after the expiration of the applicable warranty period. If LICENSOR determines that the particular item has been damaged by accident, abuse, misuse or misapplication, has been modified without the written permission of LICENSOR, or if any LICENSOR label or serial number has been removed or defaced, the limited warranties set forth above do not apply and you accept full responsibility for the product.

The warranties and remedies set forth above are exclusive and in lieu of all others, oral or written, express or implied. Statements or representations which add to, extend or modify these warranties are unauthorized by LICENSOR and should not be relied upon by you.

LICENSOR or anyone involved in the creation or delivery of the Program or Documentation to you shall have no liability to you or any third party for special, incidental, or consequential damages (including, but not limited to, loss of profits or savings, downtime, damage to or replacement of equipment and property, or recovery or replacement of programs or data) arising from claims based in warranty, contract, tort (including negligence), strict liability, or otherwise even if LICENSOR has been advised of the possibility of such claim or damage. LICENSOR's liability for direct damages shall not exceed the actual amount paid for this copy of the Program.

Some states do not allow the exclusion or limitation of implied warranties or liability for incidental or consequential damages, so the above limitations or exclusions may not apply to you.

U.S. GOVERNMENT RESTRICTED RIGHTS

If the Program is acquired for use by or on behalf of a unit or agency of the United States Government, the Program and Documentation are provided with "Restricted Rights". Use, duplication, or disclosure by the Government is subject to restrictions as set forth in subparagraph (c)(1)(ii) of the Rights in Technical Data and Computer Software clause at DFARS 252.227-7013, and to all other regulations, restrictions and limitations applicable to Government use of Commercial Software.

MrSID SOFTWARE LICENSE AGREEMENT

You have acquired a license to SOLO Office – Forest Edition ("PRODUCT") that includes software licensed by Trimble Navigation, Ltd. from LIZARDTECH, INC. Those installed software products of LIZARDTECH origin, as well as any associated media, printed materials, and "online" or electronic documentation ("SOFTWARE") are protected by copyright laws and international copyright treaties, as well as other intellectual property laws and treaties. The SOFTWARE is licensed, not sold.

The SOFTWARE contains MrSID technology which is protected by United States Copyright Law and International Treaty provisions and by U.S. Patent No. 5,710,835. Foreign patents are pending. Some of the MrSID technology was developed through a project at the Los Alamos National Laboratory (LANL) funded by the U.S. Government, managed under contract by the Regents of the University of California (University). The U.S. Government and the University have reserved rights in the MrSID technology, including the following: (a) the U.S. Government has a non-exclusive, nontransferable, irrevocable, paidup license to practice or have practiced throughout the world, for or on behalf of the United States, inventions covered by the University's Patent Rights, and has other rights under 35 U.S.C. § 200-212 and applicable implementing regulations and under the U.S. Department of Energy (DOE) Assignment and Confirmatory License through which the DOE's rights in the MrSID technology were assigned to the University; (b) Under 35 U.S.C. § 203, the DOE has the right to require LizardTech to grant a nonexclusive, partially exclusive or exclusive license under U.S. Patent No. 5,710,835 in any field of use to a responsible applicant(s) upon terms reasonable under the circumstances, if LizardTech does not adequately attempt to commercialize the MrSID technology. See, 37 CFR 401.6; (c) The University makes no warranty or representation as to the validity or scope of Patent No. 5,710,835, and neither the Government nor the University have any obligation to furnish any know-how, technical assistance, or technical data in connection with the MrSID technology. For further information about these provisions, contact LizardTech, 1008 Western Ave., Suite 200, Seattle, WA 98104.

If you do not agree to this End User License Agreement ("EULA"), do not use the PRODUCT. Promptly contact Trimble Navigation, Ltd. for instructions on return of the unused PRODUCT(S) for a refund. Any use of the SOFTWARE, including but not limited to use of the PRODUCT, will constitute your agreement to this EULA (or ratification of any previous consent).

Grant of License. You are granted a personal, nonsublicensable, nontransferable, nonexclusive license to use the SOFTWARE as integrated in the PRODUCT (as well as any associated documentation). You will not rent, sell, lease or otherwise distribute the SOFTWARE or any part of it. LIZARDTECH and its licensors retain all right, title to, and ownership of all applicable intellectual property rights such as patent, copyrights and trade secrets in the SOFTWARE. The SOFTWARE is trade secret, confidential or proprietary information of LIZARDTECH or its licensors and is unpublished, commercial software developed at private expense and provided with Restricted Rights and subject to subparagraph (c)(1)(ii) of the Rights in Technical Data and Computer Software clause at DFARS 252.227-7013 or in subparagraphs (c)(1) and (2) of the Commercial Computer Software – Restricted Rights at 48 CFR 52.227-19, as applicable.

NO WARRANTIES FOR THE SOFTWARE. The SOFTWARE is provided "AS IS" and with all faults. THE ENTIRE RISK AS TO SATISFACTORY QUALITY, PERFORMANCE, ACCURACY, AND EFFORT (INCLUDING LACK OF NEGLIGENCE) IS WITH YOU. ALSO, THERE IS NO WARRANTY AGAINST INTERFERENCE WITH YOUR ENJOYMENT OF THE SOFTWARE OR AGAINST INFRINGEMENT. IF YOU HAVE RECEIVED ANY WARRANTIES REGARDING THE PRODUCT OR THE SOFTWARE, THOSE WARRANTIES DO NOT ORIGINATE FROM, AND ARE NOT BINDING ON, LIZARDTECH. NO LIABILITY FOR DAMAGES. EXCEPT AS PROHIBITED BY LAW, LIZARDTECH SHALL HAVE NO LIABILITY FOR ANY DIRECT, INDIRECT, SPECIAL, CONSEQUENTIAL OR INCIDENTAL DAMAGES ARISING FROM OR IN CONNECTION WITH THE USE OR PERFORMANCE OF THE SOFTWARE. THIS LIMITATION SHALL APPLY EVEN IF ANY REMEDY FAILS OF ITS ESSENTIAL PURPOSE.

Limitations on Reverse Engineering, Decompilation, and Disassembly. You may not reverse engineer, decompile, or disassemble the SOFTWARE, except and only to the extent that such activity is expressly permitted by applicable law notwithstanding this limitation.

Export Restrictions. You acknowledge that the SOFTWARE, or any part thereof, or any process or service that is the direct product of the SOFTWARE (the foregoing collectively referred to as the "Restricted Components") are of U.S. origin. You agree to comply with all applicable international and national laws that apply to these products, including the U.S. Export Administration Regulations, as well as end-user, end-use and destination restrictions issued by U.S. and other governments.

TRADEMARKS

SOLO Office - Forest Edition is a trademark of Trimble Navigation, Ltd. Windows and Windows Mobile are registered trademarks of Microsoft Corporation. Bluetooth and the Bluetooth symbol are registered trademarks of Bluetooth SIG Inc. USA. MRSID® is a trademark of LizardTech, Inc.

Table of Contents

INTRODUCTION	9
SOFTWARE INSTALLATION	9
STARTING THE PROGRAM	9
REGISTERING THE PROGRAM	
SOLO OFFICE - FOREST EDITION MAIN SCREEN	11
THE FILE MENU	
	13
FILE > OPEN UDF OR SPF	
FILE > SETTINGS	
FILE > FEATURE CODES	
FILE > COPY FEATURE CODES	
FILE > EXIT	
THE PREPARE MENU	35
Prepare > Export	
PREPARE > FILE TRANSFER	
PREPARE > REMOTE FILE LIST > DOWNLOAD	
PREPARE > PROJECT FILE LIST > UPLOAD	
PREPARE > PACKAGE FILE LIST	
PREPARE > UDF FILE BROWSER	
PREPARE > CONVERT UDF TO VERSION 1	
PREPARE > WAYPOINT FILE	
PREPARE > CREATE ZONE FILE	
PREPARE > GEODETIC CONVERSION	
PREPARE > SHAPEFILE EXTRACT	
PREPARE > IMAGE PREPARATION	
PREPARE > PRINT LAYOUT	60
THE EDIT MENU	61
EDIT > STYLUS USE	61
EDIT > DELETE	62
EDIT > MOVE	62
EDIT > COPY TO UDF FEATURE	
EDIT > LINE EDITING > REVERSE LINE	
EDIT > LOGGED DATA > LOGGED POINTS	
EDIT > LOGGED DATA > LOGGED FEATURES	
VIEW > ZOOM EVERYTHING	
VIEW > IVIUKE ZUUM BELEGTIONS	
VIEW > MORE ZOOM SELECTIONS > WINDOW	
VIEW > MORE ZOOM SELECTIONS > ZOOM OUT	09 7∩
VIEW > MORE ZOOM SELECTIONS > PREVIOUS	70
VIEW > MORE ZOOM SELECTIONS > TO POINT	

VIEW > MORE ZOOM SELECTIONS > TO IMAGES	
VIEW > MORE ZOOM SELECTIONS > IMAGE SCALE 1:1	
VIEW > MORE ZOOM SELECTIONS > SAVED VIEWS	
VIEW > MORE ZOOM SELECTIONS > REFRESH	
VIEW > MAP LAYERS	71
VIEW > SET ACTIVE LAYER	
VIEW > SHOW LEGEND	
VIEW > DISPLAY OPTIONS	
VIEW > FEATURE ATTRIBUTES	
VIEW > FIND FEATURE	
THE LOG MENU	
LOG > LOG A POINT.	
LOG > LOG ANOTHER	
LOG > LOG AT	
LOG > LOG A WAYPOINT	
LOG > STICKY LOG	
LOG > END FEATURE	
THE TOOL MENU	
	08
TOOL > OFFSET/TRAVERSE OPTIONS	100
TOOL > MEASURE TOOL	100
TOOL > GENERATE GRID	102
TOOL > BUFFER FEATURE	
TOOL > POLYGONS > SPLIT	106
TOOL > POLYGONS > MERGE	
TOOL > RUN SOLOBASIC SCRIPT	
TOOL > CUSTOMIZE	
EDITING COLLECTED DATA	
	111
	113
RE-ORDERING POINTS	
	110
KEULINING	
FREEHAND REDLINING	
INDEX	

Introduction

SOLO Office – Forest Edition is the Windows-based companion product for SOLO Forest. It is designed to serve as a project management tool to assist with deploying needed work to the field via SOLO Forest.

This manual will describe the functions found within SOLO Office - Forest Edition, including:

- Creating custom Feature Files to use as field data collection templates
- Creating custom Zone files to project your collected data in real time
- Preparing basemaps and raster images for field use
- Creating Waypoint files for navigation
- Transferring files between your data collector and your desktop PC
- Viewing and editing collected data, basemaps and raster images
- Printing your projects
- Exporting data in several GIS and CAD formats

This manual will also describe the user interface of SOLO Office – Forest Edition, including zooming and panning the Map View; labeling and applying colors and symbols to basemaps and collected data; and turning on and off display options.

The functions available in SOLO Office – Forest Edition will be described in the order in which they are presented in the pull-down menus and shortcut icons, with one section devoted to each pull-down menu.

System Requirements

SOLO Office – Forest Edition requires a 486 MHz or higher processor running Microsoft Windows XP or later. For communication with your data collector, you will need an available serial (COM) port or USB port that is not being used by any other devices.

Software Installation

- Be sure Microsoft ActiveSync (Windows XP) or Windows Mobile Device Center (Windows 7 and up) is installed and running on the desktop PC before SOLO Office is installed. If Active Sync/Mobile Device Center is not installed, you will get a 'CEUTIL.dll not found' error when you try to run SOLO Office.
- 2. To install SOLO Office, run the .msi file.

Starting the Program

- 1. The procedure to start SOLO Office Forest Edition will vary depending on the type of handheld where it is installed. Use one of the following methods:
 - Choose Start > All Programs > Trimble > SOLO Office FE
 - Double tap the SOLO Office Forest Edition shortcut on the desktop.
- When you start SOLO Office Forest Edition for the first time, you will be notified that your copy of SOLO Office - Forest Edition has not been registered. At this point you can tap the **Register** button and follow the instructions below, or tap the **Demo** button and run it in demo mode.

Registering the Program

When you tap the 'Register' button, the **Product Authorization** screen will be displayed. The serial number for the installed copy of SOLO Office - Forest Edition will be displayed in the **SOLO Serial Number** field. Email (<u>forestrysupport@trimble.com</u>) Trimble with this serial number, a copy of your invoice to receive the corresponding authorization numbers. You can then enter the authorization number to register SOLO Office - Forest Edition for full use.

SOLO Office - Forest Edition Main Screen

The Main SOLO Office screen contains the Map View and is where you will initiate all of the data manipulation and management functions in SOLO Office. The Map View will also be where you display your collected points, waypoints, basemap layers and raster images.



The File Menu

The functions contained in the file menu allow you to open or create projects, export your project data and run optional program modules. This section discusses the SOLO Office - Forest Edition functions that are found under the **File** menu.

File > New UDF Project

Many of the functions provided within SOLO Office operate on a project level. Projects can be created in SOLO Office or they can be created on your field data collector and uploaded to SOLO Office.

To create a new project in SOLO Office, select the File > New UDF Project menu option. The Create Project File dialog box will be displayed. You can use the standard Windows navigation functions to specify or create the folder in which you wish to create the job, then enter a name for the project in the Name field and click the OK button. The default extension of .UDF (Universal Data File) is automatically added to the file name.

When you create a new project, the Settings dialog box will be displayed. This is the dialog box where you configure the user interface and settings for the project. Clicking File > Settings can also access this dialog box.

There are several pages available in the Settings dialog box, which are described in the File > Settings section.

File > Open UDF or SPF

The **File** > **Open UDF or SPF** menu option allows you to open an existing project file (*.UDF) or a SOLO Package File (*.SPF). SPF files are compressed, self-extracting files that are created in SOLO Office. SPF files can contain basemap layers, raster images, feature files and other associated files.

When you select **File** > **Open**, a standard Windows **Open** screen is displayed. Use the navigation functions to locate the desired UDF or SPF file, and then double tap on the filename to open the project.

When a project is opened, the selections in the **Settings** screen will be updated to match the settings stored in the existing project.

If you choose to open an SPF file, the Unpack Files screen will be displayed.

Un-Pack Files				×
Package File	_ Info			
COLO Office - Forget Edition/Comple SDE	SPF size:	4,402 KB		
SOLO Office - Porest Edition (Sample, SPT	# Files:	55		
Calent Lint	# Existing:	55		
	# Extract:	55	Size:	9,938 KB
Basemap files	Extract Option	ns		
✓ Extract # Files: 38		P	rompt At:	
Size: 9,587 KB	Don't extr	act (each file	e
Dest Dir: 0.000 0700 00	existing fi	es (overwri	tes only
C: \Users \bmckee \Documents \SOLO Office		6	i none -	overwrite all
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·				
Select Set fast settings	Ca	ncel	Extr	act

This screen is divided into four sections: Package File, Info, Basemap Files, and Extract Options.

Package File

This section displays the name and location of the selected SPF file. To select a different SPF file, tap on the **Select** button. To view the files stored in the selected SPF file, tap on the **List** button.

Extract Basemap Files

This section displays the number of basemap and related files that are stored in the SPF file, the extracted size of those files and the directory to which those files will be extracted.

Uncheck the box labeled "Extract Basemap Files" if you do not wish to extract the basemap and associated files.

Tap on the **Select** button to choose a different destination directory for all of the files in the SPF file to be extracted to.

Check the box labeled "Set Fast Settings" to set the default display options for the basemap files to the fastest settings: black; no fill; line width of 1.

Info

This section displays the SPF file size, the number of files contained in the SPF file, the number of those files that already exist in the destination directory and the number and extraction size of the those files that do not already exist in the destination directory.

Extract Options

This section allows you to set the extraction options for the selected SPF file. The default option is to skip files that already exist in the destination directory. Uncheck the box labeled "Don't extract existing files" if you wish to overwrite any of the files that already exist in the destination directory.

You may also select how you will be prompted during the extraction option. Select **Each File** to confirm the extraction of every file to be extracted. Select **Overwrite Only** to be prompted only if an existing file will be overwritten. Select **None – Overwrite All** if you do not wish to be prompted.

Tap on the **Cancel** button to close the Un-Pack Files screen and return to the Map View.

Tap the **Extract** button to extract the desired files from the SPF file. After the files are extracted, you will be asked if you wish to open the project that has been extracted.

File > Close UDF Project

The File > Close UDF Project menu option closes the current project.

File > Save As

The **File** > **Save As** menu option allows you to save the current project as a new UDF project with any name provided. Once the project is saved, the new project becomes the current project.

File > Settings...

There are several pages available in the **Settings** screen. These pages are organized like index cards. Tapping on any tab along the top of this screen will open that page. Each page in the **Settings** screen is described below.

Settings: Info

The **Info** page displays the version of the SOLO Office - Forest Edition program and the information for the current project. Tap on the **DLL Versions** button to display the DLL component versions currently being used.

Settings Info General	Zone Logging Files Receiver	
SOLO Office Version 4.1 Copyright @	e - Forest Edition .0 Build(7) © 1998 - 2012 Trimble Navigation, Ltd.	The following tabs show all the settings for this project. If you are unsure of a
Name: Directory:	Sample.udf Size: 7.41 KB C:\Users\bmckee\Documents\SOLO Office - Fore	setting, avoid changing it.
Features:	5 Points: 5 Version: 2	
	ОК	Cancel

Project name

This field displays the currently opened project.

Size

This field displays the size of the currently opened project.

Version

This field displays the version of the currently opened project.

Directory

This field displays where the project file is stored.

Features

This field shows the number of active and ended features in the project.

Points

This field shows the number of points that have been logged in the current project.

Settings: General

The **General** page is used to set the format for how your position is displayed and the units to use for distance and area calculations.

Settings	×
Info General Zone Logging	Files Receiver
Your name:	John Doe
Position display:	Latitude-Longitude WGS84
Distance unit:	Feet(US)
Area unit:	Acres
Bearing style:	Decimal Degrees (DD.DDDDDD)
Text File Mode:	ASCII Internal Text: Unicode
	OK Cancel

Your name

You can personalize the project by entering your name, or any text in this optional field.

Position Display

Select from Latitude-Longitude WGS84, or Northing-Easting (SPC, UTM or Custom).

Distance unit

Select the units that you want to use when entering and displaying distances from the dropdown list.

16

Tip: Throughout SOLO Office - Forest Edition, distances are entered in the units selected here. These units can be temporarily overridden to either feet or meters by appending the distance entered with the appropriate units. For example, if the units for the project were set to meters and you wanted to enter 6 feet for a distance, you could enter the distance in any of the following formats:

6 f 6 f 6 ft 6 ft 6 feet 6 feet

Likewise, if the units for the project are set to feet and you wanted to enter 2 meters for a distance, you could enter the distance in any of the following formats:

2 m 2m 2 meter 2 meters 2 meters 2 meters

The distance entered is then converted to the units configured for the project once the **OK** button is tapped from the current screen.

Area unit

Select the units that you want to use when displaying calculated areas from the dropdown list.

Bearing style

Select between Decimal Degrees and Deg > Min > Sec as the format to use when displaying bearings.

Settings: Zone

If you are unsure of the zone parameter required for your project, or if it is not important that your project's coordinates tie-in with coordinates from another source, simply leave each field in this screen set to their default values.

If you selected to display **Northing-Easting** coordinates from the **General** page, the options from this page will affect both the format for your coordinates and how distances and areas are calculated. If you selected to display **Latitude- Longitude** coordinates from the **General** page, the options from this page will only affect how distances and areas are calculated.

When using a zone file, the settings on this page will have no effect. The only necessary step is to select the correct zone file as described below.

Since the options available in each field will vary depending on the selections made in the previous fields, you should make your selections in the same order that they appear on the screen; **Method**, **Coordinate System**, **Horizontal Datum**, and **Zone**.

Settings		
Info General Zone	Logging Files Receiver	·]
Method:	Coordinate System:	State Plane 1927 💌
U.S.A. (NGS)	Horizontal Datum:	NAD 1927 -
C International	Zone:	Oregon North
Use the following zo	ne file: Browse	Clear
		OK Cancel

Method

Select the projection method that is best for your project. In general, the **U.S.A. (NGS)** option provides more accurate measurements, but is only valid when working within North America. The **International** option is applicable worldwide.

Coordinate System

Select State Plane 1927, State Plane 1983, or UTM. When using International for Method, UTM, Japanese and South African options are available as built-in coordinate systems. Other coordinate systems can be supported by creating a custom Zone file (.ZON). This is discussed later in this manual.

Horizontal Datum

Select the datum that you want to use for your project. The options available will vary depending on the previous selections that were made. There are no additional steps except with the following option:

High Precision Geodetic Networks (HPGN)

If you want to use any of the HPGN datum definitions, additional files must be transferred to the data collector.

Using Microsoft ActiveSync, copy the appropriate .LOS and .LAS files from the \Program Files\SOLO Office - Forest Edition\GeoData folder, depending on the HPGN datum that will be used, as explained in the following examples.

If you were working in Florida, you would select the **HPGN FL** Horizontal Datum and copy the FLHPGN.LAS and FLHPGN.LOS files to the Data collector.

If you were working in California, you would select the **HPGN CA** Horizontal Datum and copy the CAHPGN.LAS and CAHPGN.LOS to the Data collector.

Zone

Select the zone where you will be working. If the UTM Coordinate System was selected earlier, you can either select your specific longitudinal zone, or the **Natural Zone** option.

When the **Natural Zone** option is selected, SOLO Office - Forest Edition will automatically choose the correct longitudinal zone from the information that is sent from the receiver.

Although it is unlikely, if a situation occurs when using **Natural Zone** where waypoints exist in two longitudinal zones, or if you cross over to another longitudinal zone while collecting data, a warning will be displayed immediately after the error is encountered.

To solve the problem, simply follow the instructions provided in the error screen.

Hemisphere

Select the hemisphere where you will be working. This field is only displayed if you have selected **International** as the Method.

Use the following zone file

A Zone file (.ZON) can be created using **SOLO Office** and then transferred to the data collector. Zone files contain all of your zone parameters, and can contain custom projection parameters that are not available by using SOLO Forest alone. They can make it easier to select the correct zone settings for a particular project with less chance for error, especially when working with several projects that have different zone parameters.

To use a zone file, it must first be transferred to the data collector into the SOLO Forest documents folder (\My Documents\SOLO) or put in the SOLO Office documents folder if using on the desktop PC. If the zone file was created with custom projection parameters, then the corresponding coordinate system file (.cs5 or .pj5) must also be transferred.

Check the **Use the following zone file** checkbox then tap the **Browse** button. Locate the zone file and double tap on it to select it. The corresponding coordinate system file will automatically be selected for custom zone files.

Settings: Logging

The **Logging** page has settings to customize the way points are logged and the data that is stored with them.

Settings	
Info General Zone Logging Files Receiver	
Minimum number of GPS fixes averaged per logged point	1
When a point is created Ask for Point Name Ask for Feature Information	Force the map to draw completely while in Log by Interval mode
Save DOPs and SNR data	Warn user about map drawing in Log by interval mode
	OK Cancel

Min. number of GPS fixes averaged per logged point

Enter the minimum number of GPS fixes (epochs) that must be collected and averaged for each position stored in this field. You will be required to occupy the location until the minimum number of epochs has been recorded.

Ask for Point Name

When this is checked, you are prompted to enter a point name for each point that is stored. Point names are limited to 20 characters in length.

Ask for Feature Information

When this is checked, you will be asked to enter feature and attribute data for each point that is stored.

Save PDOP and SNR data

When this box is checked, the PDOP and SNR data will be saved.

Beep

When this box is checked, a beep will sound each time a position is stored.

Force the map to draw completely while in Log by Interval mode

When this box is checked, the full Map View, including basemaps and images, will be displayed while logging by interval. Depending upon the interval and the speed of the processor, this may cause the software to respond slowly.

Warn user about map drawing in Log by interval mode

When running in *Log by Interval* mode with an interval of 5 seconds or less, the map does not redraw while logging unless the *Force the map to draw completely while in Log by Interval mode* box is checked. When this box is checked, a dialog will appear that warns that the map will not be redrawn.

Settings: Files

The **Files** page is where you select the feature file and Waypoint file that you want to use, as well as designating a backup folder and data folder.

Settings	
Info General	Zone Logging Files Receiver
Feature file:	Sample.fea Browse
Waypoint file:	SampleGrid.way is in: Lat/Lon 💌 Browse Clear
Data folder:	C:\Users\bmckee\Documents\S Select
	Free Space: > 4 GB
	OK Cancel

Feature file

This field displays the currently selected feature file. In the illustrations that follow, no feature file was selected.

Waypoint File

This field displays the currently selected waypoint file. The Waypoint file is a list of known points to which you would like to navigate in the field.

Use the appropriate **Browse** button to select a different file or the appropriate **Clear** button so no file is selected.

Note: When a waypoint file is loaded from this screen, it is loaded as a UDF layer. A waypoint file can also be loaded as a basemap layer by using the **View** > **Map Layers** > **Add New Layer** and select **Waypoint (*.way)** as the file type (discussed later in this manual).

Data folder

This field displays the folder where data files are stored. The stored files include feature files, waypoint files, zone files and basemap configuration files. Tap the **Select** button to select from the available folders. The amount of free space in the selected folder is displayed for your reference.

Settings: Receiver

The **Receiver** page contains the settings that allow communication between the GNSS receiver and the computer. You can also configure SOLO Office - Forest Edition to operate in a GPS emulation mode from this page.

Settings	
Info General Zone Loggi	ng Files Receiver
GNSS Type: Trimble GNSS ▼	Configure GNSS
Log Raw GNSS Data for Post-Processing	Configure GNSS Antenna GPS receiver mode Emulation mode File Default GPS receiver not used
	OK Cancel

GNSS Type:

Select the GNSS type from the dropdown list. Options are: Trimble GNSS or NMEA-0183. When selecting Trimble GNSS the **Configure GNSS** and **Configure GNSS Antenna** buttons become active. By default "Smart" control over GNSS settings are used and applied. Click on these buttons to change settings for the GNSS device (e.g. COM port, Real-time, Antenna settings, etc.).

The default settings displayed are based on the connected Trimble GNSS hardware. COM ports and baud rates are automatically selected.

Use the NMEA-0183 option to connect to a GNSS receiver which can output positions in NMEA-0183 format. COM port, antenna height and baud rate must be specified for this option.

Log Raw GNSS Data for Post-Processing

Check this box (only available with Trimble GNSS receivers) if you wish to log raw data and create an SSF file to be post-processed in Trimble Pathfinder Office software. SSF files are created based in the same location as the UDF files.

The file naming convention for SSF files created in SOLO is: {UDF filename + date/time stamp .SSF}.

Please refer to the **Post-Processing Guide** section of the SOLO Forest manual for more information about post-processing raw GPS data.

Emulation mode

SOLO Office - Forest Edition normally needs to be connected to a GPS receiver to access many of the screens within the program. In order to facilitate training in an office environment without physically connecting to a GPS receiver, a special environment without physically connecting to a GPS receiver, a special environment without physically connecting to a GPS receiver, a special environment without physically connecting to a GPS receiver, a special environment without physically connecting to a GPS receiver, a special environment without physically connecting to a GPS receiver, a special environment without physically connecting to a GPS receiver, a special environment without physically connecting to a GPS receiver, a special environment without physically connecting to a GPS receiver, a special environment without physically connecting to a GPS receiver, a special environment without physically connecting to a GPS receiver, a special environment without physically connecting to a GPS receiver, a special environment without physically connecting to a GPS receiver, a special environment without physically connecting to a GPS receiver, a special environment without physically connecting to a GPS receiver, a special environment without physically connecting to a GPS receiver, a special environment environment without physically connecting to a GPS receiver, a special environment enviro

When the **Emulation mode** box is checked, SOLO Office - Forest Edition acts as if it were receiving a signal from a GPS receiver. When running in emulation mode, SOLO Office - Forest Edition is essentially playing a "recording" of a receiver moving around in a large area. This "recording" is played through until it ends where it then starts playing from the beginning again.

If you have been using emulation mode, it is important to remember to disable (un-check) it again before going out in the field since communication with the receiver does not take place while running in this special mode.

Use the File button to select a log file.

Note: A message will be displayed in the Map View to indicate that you are currently in Emulation Mode if this box is checked.

GPS Receiver not used

Check this box if you will be logging data manually or through the use of a laser rangefinder. Checking this box will disable prompts indicating that no GPS position is being received.

Once each page of the **Settings** screen is correctly filled in for your project, tap the **OK** button to close the screen and save the settings.

File > Feature Codes...

The **Edit Feature Codes** screen can be used to make changes to the feature file assigned to your project, create a new feature file or establish a link between the feature file assigned to your project and existing database files.

From the **File** pull-down menu, select **Feature Codes**. The **Edit Feature Codes** screen will be displayed listing all the features in the feature file assigned to your project.

Edit Feature Codes - Sample				×
Select item to edit/delete:	19		Properties:	
AREA ACRES ACR	E	Name: Type:	Stand Area Feature	New Feature File Open Feature File Edit Form Delete New Feature Save Save As
Expand All Collapse All	Print			current project

Selecting any of the listed features will display the properties for that feature, indicating whether the feature is a Point, Line, or Area.

You may change the order of the features listed in the feature list by highlighting a feature and then tapping on the 1 or 4 buttons.

Clicking the 🗄 symbol next to any of the feature names will expand the feature to display the attributes for that feature. As with features, selecting any attribute will display the properties for that attribute.

Menu-type attributes can be further expanded to display the available menu and sub-menu options.

You can delete a feature by highlighting it and tapping on the **Delete** button.

Clicking on the **Expand All** button will cause every feature and attribute in the Feature File to be expanded to its full extent. Clicking on the **Collapse All** button will collapse every feature and attribute in the Feature File. Click on the **Print** button to print a copy of the feature list as it is displayed.

Creating a New Feature File

Click on the **New Feature File** button to create a new Feature File. You will first be prompted to save any changes to the current Feature File, then a new Feature File will be created that contains the features 'Generic Point', 'Generic Line' and 'Generic Area'.

You can edit or delete these default features and add new features to the Feature File. When you are satisfied with the Feature File, click on the **Save As** button to save the file.

Opening an Existing Feature File

Click on the **Open Feature File** button to open an existing Feature File. A standard Windows **Open** dialog box will be displayed. Navigate to the desired folder and double-click on the Feature File name to open it.

Adding a New Feature

Click on the **New Feature** button to add a new feature to the current Feature File. The **New Feature** dialog box will be displayed.



Name

Enter the name for the new feature into the Name field.

Туре

Select the feature type from the list in the Type field. (Point, Line and Area).

Symbol

You may assign a symbol to the feature by clicking on the Symbol button. Highlight the desired symbol from the displayed list and click the **OK** button to assign that symbol to the feature.

If you have selected to display logged data symbols (**View** > **Display Options**), when this new feature is logged the selected symbol will be displayed instead of the default gray box.

Once the Name, Type and Symbol information has been entered into the **New Feature** dialog box, you will need to add the attributes that you want to collect. Adding Attributes can be done in two ways: by typing in the attributes or by reading them from an existing DBF file. In the example below, a new feature will be added by typing in the attributes.

Adding Attributes Manually

Click on the **Add** button in the **New Feature** dialog box to display the **Add Attribute** dialog box. Enter a **Name** for the attribute then select the **Type**. Available attribute types are Text, Number, Menu and Date. Click on the Next button to define the parameters for the attribute.

For a Text attribute, you can specify the number of characters that may be entered for the attribute. For a Number attribute, you can specify a minimum, maximum and default values, as well as decimal precision and units. For a Date attribute there are no additional parameters.

For all of the attribute types, you can specify that a value must be entered during the data logging routine by checking the box labeled 'Always require value entry'.

For a Menu attribute, you can define menu and sub-menu items. There are three ways to add menu and sub-menu items to an attribute in your Feature file. These methods are discussed in the **Adding Menu Items** section. You may also read menu items from a text file on your data collector at run-time. This is discussed in the **Adding Menu Items from a Text File** section.

Adding Attributes from a DBF File

As an alternative to typing in attributes, you may read the attributes into SOLO Office from an existing DBF database file. In the **New Feature** dialog box, click on the **From Table** button. A standard **Open** dialog box will be displayed where you can select the .DBF file that you would like to use to build the new feature.

Name: NewFeature Type: Point There must be at least one attributeogged items keep the properties that were raild when the items were first logged. Changing the properties now will affect uture items only.	Symbol	AREA PERIMETER HYDRANT_ HYDRANT_ID ACAD_HAND HYD_NUM LABANGLE OBJN PNTANGLE PROJ_ SYS_ID		
		Add From Table	Delete]

Note: SOLO Office currently can only read a DBF file for this function.

Once you have selected the .DBF file, SOLO Office will read the file and populate the Attributes column with the fields from the file.

At this time you will also have the opportunity to create a link to the data in the .DBF file that will allow you to query the .DBF file during the data entry process. Please see the following section for more detailed information on this functionality.

Each attribute will be assigned an attribute type based upon the field type in the .DBF file.

You may change the order of the attributes by highlighting an attribute and clicking on the up and down arrows to the right of the attributes list.

You may change the type by highlighting the feature and selecting an attribute type from the selection list just below the **Delete** button.

If a change to the attribute type is made, you will be prompted to provide additional information, depending upon the type selected. You may also choose to edit/verify the attribute settings by clicking on the **Edit Attribute** letton located just below the arrow buttons.

Click the **OK** button to accept the new feature and return to the **Edit Feature Codes** dialog box.

Adding Menu Items

Click on the **Add Menu Item** button in the **Add Attribute** dialog box to add a menu item to the menu items list. The **Add Menu Item(s)** dialog box will be displayed.

Add Menu Item(s)	×		
Add Single			
Name:	Add		
-Add Multiple From Text Fi	le		
File: C:\My Documents\	SoloField\orwater\p		
Select View	Add From File		
One item from each line of a comma separated file is used.			
Add Items from File List	Select and Add		

The three methods for adding menu items to your feature file are accessed from this dialog box.

Adding Menu Items Manually

When adding a menu item manually, simply type the name of the menu item into the **Name** field and click on the **Add** button. The entered name will be added to the menu item list in the **Add Attribute** dialog box.

Add Attribute		×
- Attribute	Select a menu item:	
Name: Type	Natural	Rename
Type: Menu	Vinyl	Set As Default
Always require value entry		Delete
Read from File at run-time		Add Menu Item
Select		Add SubMenu Item
	1	
		Finish

When you have entered at least one menu item, the remaining buttons in the **Add Attribute** dialog box will become active.

Rename

Click the **Rename** button to rename the highlighted menu item.

Set as Default

The first menu item entered will become the default menu item for that attribute. To set a new default, highlight the desired menu item and click on the **Set as Default** button.

Delete

Click on the Delete button to delete the highlighted menu item.

Add SubMenu Item

Menu items can also have sub-menu items. For example, the Pond feature in the example above has Manmade as one of the menu items used to describe the Type attribute. The Manmade menu could possibly have Concrete and Vinyl as sub-menu items. To enter sub-menu items, select the desired menu item then click the **Add SubMenu Item** button.

Once you are finished entering the menu items, click the **Finish** button to return to the New Feature dialog box.

Adding Menu Items from a Text File

SOLO Office also lets you add multiple menu items at the same time by reading them from a text file.

One item from each line of a comma-delimited file can be added. Click on the Select button to select the file from which you wish to add menu items.

Click on the View button to view the selected file, and to verify the contents.

Specify which column of the selected file to use when adding the menu items in the Field field.

Click on the Add From File button to add the specified items as menu items. A dialog box will report any errors, and/or how many items will be added.

Adding Menu Items from a File List

SOLO Office also lets you add multiple menu items at the same time by reading them from file names in a specified folder. Click on the **Select and Add** button in the **Add Menu Item(s)** dialog box to specify the folder. A dialog box will report any errors, and/or how many items will be added.

Reading Menu Items from a Text File at Run-time

Instead of building menu items into your Feature file, you may choose to read them from a text file located on your data collector. The specified text file will be read during the data collection process.

Check the box labeled 'Read from File at run-time' in the **Add Attribute** dialog box and then tap the **Sel** button to choose the text file. The text file must be in the **Data Folder** specified in the **Settings** dialog box (Page **Error! Bookmark not defined.**) and must also use the following format:

default menu name

menu item 1, default submenu name, submenu item 1, submenu item 2

menu item 2, default submenu name, submenu item 1, submenu item 2

A blank line or end-of-file terminates the menu item list (except the first line, which may be blank if there is no specified default). The default names may be left blank if they are not needed.

An example file is displayed below. There are 9 menu items, 3 of which have submenu items. "Ponderosa Pine" is the default. Notice that "Ponderosa Pine" is listed twice, first as the Default Menu Item (first line of the file), and second as a menu item. "Sitka Spruce" has no specified default sub-menu item:

Ponderosa Pine

Alaska Cedar, Tall, Short, Medium, Tall

Douglas Fir Incense Cedar Lodgepole Pine Ponderosa Pine Port Orford Cedar

Redwood,Red,Blue,Red,Yellow

Sitka Spruce,,Thin,Medium,Thick

Western Redcedar

Creating a Link to existing Data

SOLO Office will allow you to link attributes in your Feature file to a .DBF file on your data collector. Through this link you can query the .DBF file and populate your attributes during the data collection process. A feature can contain both linked and non-linked attributes.

In the **New Feature** dialog box, click on the **From Table** button. A standard **Open** dialog box will be displayed where you can select the .DBF file that you would like to use to build the new feature. You will be asked if you wish to automatically create database links for each added attribute. Click on the **Yes** button to establish the links.

Once the links have been established, those attributes with links will be marked in the **New Feature** dialog box with an ampersand @. At this point you can add additional attributes, as describe earlier, by tapping the **Add** or **From Table** buttons. To take full advantage of the database links, it is necessary to establish at least one key attribute. The key attribute should be an attribute that will have a unique value for each record in the database that it is linked to.

Highlight the attribute that you wish to designate as the key attribute, and then click on the **Edit DataLink** button **I**. The **Edit Attribute DataLink** dialog box will be displayed.

Edit Attribute DataLink	X
- Attribute Database Link	_
© None	
🔿 Key Value (search in database) 🛛 🗹 Partial Match 🗖 First Match	
C Linked Value (read from database)	
Database File]
Key or Link Field	
Fields:> Use Field ->	
Update list from File	
ОК	Cancel

There are three radio buttons that allow you to specify the link status for the attribute as no link, key value or linked value. If you have followed the procedure above, the attribute will be designated as a **Linked Value**.

Tap the radio button for **Key Value** to establish the attribute as the key attribute. Click on the radio button for **None** to remove the link.

You may also choose to link your attribute to a field in a different .DBF file than the one used to generate the attribute list.

Enter the appropriate database file name and path in the **Database File** field, or tap the Select button to select the file. The fields available in the database file will be listed in the **Fields** field. Select the field in the database file that you wish to link to the current attribute from the list. Click on the **Use Field** button to enter the field name into the **Use Field** field.

Click on the **OK** button to return to the **New/Edit Feature** dialog box. The attribute that you have selected to be the key attribute will be displayed in the attribute list with an asterisk (*) in place of the ampersand (@).

During the data collection process, you will be able to enter a value into the key attribute field and query the linked database file.

If a match is found, the remaining linked attributes will be filled from the database file.

Setting up an Attribute Hyperlink

SOLO Office will allow you to establish a hyperlink between a menu or text attribute and an OLE object, such as a photo or audio file. The file name of the linked object is stored as the attribute, and you can access the object by selecting the logged feature in the Map View.

To set up the hyperlink, tap the **Edit Hyperlink** is button in the **Edit Feature** dialog box. The **Edit Attribute Hyperlink** dialog box will be displayed.

lit Attribute Hyperlink		
C the Humanitak - C Link Off - C Link o		
Open Link With Viewer © System Default C Internal O Other:	Sel,.	
Link Name Resolution Extension: Folder: Usage Options	Sel.,	
 Show link button on form, Open link when UDF feature selected on map, 		
	ОК	Cancel

The default selection is **No Hyperlink**, and the remaining fields in the dialog box are inactive. Select **Link On** to set up the hyperlink. Select **Link Off** to disable an established link.

Open Link with Viewer

Specify how you would like the link to be accessed in the Map View. Choose **System Default** to use the default application for your data collector, **Internal** to use the viewer built into SOLO Office, or **Other**. If **Other** is selected, tap the **Sel** button to select the application.

Link Name Resolution

Enter the file extension of the object to be linked in the **Type** field. Enter the folder name where the object to be linked is stored, or tap the **Sel** button to browse the available folders.

Usage Options

If you wish to see a preview of the linked object during the data collection process, check the box labeled '**Show link button on form**'. This will place a button in the **Log** or **Attributes** dialog box (displayed during data collection) that will enable the preview.

If you wish to access the linked object from the Map View, check the box labeled '**Open link** when UDF feature selected on map'. When a feature that contains a link is selected on the Map View, the linked file will be accessed.

Setting up Attribute Serial Input

SOLO Office will allow you to enter attribute information from an external serial device, such as calipers or a voltmeter. When serial port input is set up, SOLO Office will look for the appropriate message when the attribute field is highlighted during data collection.

To set up serial input for an attribute, tap on the **Edit Serial Input** is button in the **Edit Feature** dialog box. The **Edit Attribute Serial Port Input** dialog box will be displayed.

Edit Attribute Serial Port Input	×
Serial Port Input State: 📀 None 🗢 Disabled 🗠 Enabled	
Filter Settings	
Starts with: (blank = Any Data)	
Field Delimiters:	
Field Number: 2 (0 = Entire Record)	
(OK)	Cancel

The default selection is **None**, and the remaining fields in the dialog box are inactive. Select **Link On** to set up the hyperlink. Select **Link Off** to disable an established link.

Starts With

Enter the string that begins the serial message that you wish to extract the input from. If this field is left blank, SOLO Office will accept any message that comes into the port.

Field Delimiters

Specify the character(s) that are used to delimit the fields in the incoming serial message.

Field Number

Specify which field in the serial message you wish to populate the attribute with. Incoming fields will be numbered based upon the field delimiter entered earlier. A '0' indicates that the entire message be stored in the attribute field.

Click the **OK** button to save any changes and return to the **Edit Feature** dialog box.

Adjusting the Layout

SOLO Office - Forest Edition provides the ability to modify the appearance of the data entry form that is presented for each feature in the feature file. To adjust the layout of the features in your feature file, tap on the **Form** button in the **Edit Feature Codes** screen.

Point Name:	A	You can drag controls around an
Type	•	Double tap on the control to change i text color.
		OK

In the **Form Editor** screen, you will be able to drag the field labels and data entry boxes around to the desired position. You may also resize the boxes.

Change the color of the labels and boxes by double tapping on them.

Tap the **Reset** button to restore the original settings.

Tap the **OK** button to accept the new settings and return to the **Edit Feature Codes** screen.

File > Copy Feature Codes

The File > Copy Feature Codes menu option allows you to open two feature files simultaneously and copy data from the feature file displayed on the left and paste it in the feature file displayed on the right. By default, the current feature file is displayed on the left side, which cannot be modified from this screen, and the right side is empty. Use the Open a feature file to copy to open a different feature file on the left side of the screen to copy from. Use the Open a feature file to paste to open a feature file on the right side of the screen to past data to.

Copy/Paste Feature	×
Copy/Paste Feature Select item to Copy: 	Paste Item here:
Redwood Sitka Spruce Western Redcedar Western Redcedar Photo Expand All Open a fearure file to copy CANCEL	Expand All Collapse All Edit Open a fearure file to paste Delete Form Save Save As

There are two ways to copy and paste data from the left side to the right side: You can either drag the items from the left side to the right side, or right-click on the data you want to copy from the left side, select **Copy** and right-click where you want to paste it to on the right side and select **Paste**.

The **Expand All** button will expand all the branches of the associated feature file. **Collapse All** will collapse all the branches.

The Edit or Delete button will edit or delete the feature selected on the right side of the screen.

The Form button opens the form editor for the feature selected on the right side of the screen.

After changes have been made, tap Save to save the changes or Save As to save the file to a new file. Clicking CANCEL will close the screen and any changes made since the last save will be lost.

File > Post Processing Update

If you have logged raw GPS data for your project, this function allows you to synchronize the differentially corrected position data from the raw data file with the feature data in your project file. This function is an optional add-on to SOLO Office. Please refer to the Post Processing section of the SOLO Forest Manual for more detailed information regarding this function.

File > Exit

This menu option closes SOLO Office – Forest Edition.

The Prepare Menu

The functions contained in the **Prepare** menu allow you to create zone and waypoint files, transfer files to and from your field data collector, perform geodetic functions and print your projects. Each of the functions available in the **Prepare** menu is described below.

Prepare > Export

Once you have reviewed your project, and have made any necessary changes, you will want to convert your data into a format that is compatible with your GIS or CAD system. The file export routine provided by SOLO Office will allow you to create ESRI Shapefiles, AutoCAD DXF files, ASCII TXT files, TDS CR5 files, or Advanced ASCII from your project.

Prepare > Export > SHP/DXF/TXT/CR5 Export

The desired export format can be selected from within the File Export dialog box.



You may select the export format by clicking on the down arrow to the right of the selection box. Choose from ASCII (Text), TDS CR5, AutoCAD DXF and ESRI (ArcView) Shapefile.

Each format (except CR5) has various options for configuring the final output.

Select Features

SOLO Office will export all of the features in your project by default. If you wish to export only a subset of your collected features, you may click on the **Select Features** button to display the **Select Features** dialog box.

When the **Select Features** dialog box is first opened, all of the features in your project are listed in the **Selected Features** column. To remove a feature from the **Selected Features** column, highlight it and click the [**Remove**] button.

You may click the [**Remove All**] button to move all of the features in your project to the **Available Features** column.

Select Features		X
Available Features		Selected Features
Name ID	Name	ID
	 Tree 	1
	Pole	2
	Pole	3
	View	4
	ParkInfo	5
	> Fence	6
	Tree	7
	Tree	8
	 Tree 	9
	Tree	10
	Tree	11
	Tree	12
	ParkInfo	13
	₽ Hyd	14
	 Hyd 	15
	P Pole	17
	₽ Hyd	18
	P Hyd	19
	> Fence	20
	> Fence	21
Add All >> Add >>	·	<< Remove All
		OK Cancel

If any features are in the **Available Features** column, you can move them to the **Selected Features** column individually by highlighting the feature and clicking the [**Add**] button. You can move the entire list of features by clicking on the [**Add All**] button.

Click on the **OK** button to confirm your selections and return to the **File Export** dialog box.

Projection Settings

This box displays the current coordinate format (northing-easting or latitude-longitude), and the distance units. The selected features will be exported using the current selections in the **General** and **Zone** pages of the **Settings** dialog box. (If the displayed projection settings do not meet your needs, you can close the **File Export** dialog box and then select **File > Settings** to change the projection settings.)

Files

Depending upon the export format selected, you may choose to export your features in two ways: a unique file for each feature layer, or one file containing all features. For the DXF and CR5 formats, all features are exported to one file. For the ESRI Shapefile format a set of three files (.shp, .shx, .dbf) will be created for each feature layer (poles, trees, etc.). For the ASCII format, you can choose between methods.

SOLO Office will automatically provide file names for the files created during the export process. The default file names will be based upon the feature name (e.g. tree0001.shp). If you would like to input your own file name, you can check the box labeled **Prompt for Filenames**. You will then be prompted to input a filename for each file as it is created.

You may also choose to overwrite existing files with the same name and extension by checking the checkbox labeled **Overwrite existing files**.

Output Directory

The data directory specified in the **Files** page of the **Settings** dialog box will be the default output directory. You may choose another directory by clicking on the **Select** button.
When you are satisfied with your selections, click on the **Export** button to create the file(s) in the selected format.

Prepare > Export > Advanced ASCII

When you select this option, the **ASCII Export** dialog box will be displayed. In this dialog box you will be able to customize the format of your ASCII text file using a variety of variables, headers, footers, etc. You will also be able to specify the order in which variables are output.

The **ASCII Export** dialog box consists of two sections, the left section containing the available variables and the right section listing the variables selected for export. As you select variables to be exported, they will be displayed on the right side of the dialog box.

ASCII Export			X
Feature Type To Export		Export Variables	
Source Variables		Remove All Variables	
Pole::Height			
	Add		
Header / Footer Field Senarator			
Save Profile Load Profile		Format Remove Up	Down
		Export	Cancel

Feature Type To Export

Click on the down arrow in this selection box to select the feature type from the available list. All of the features in the current project will be listed, as well as an option for ALL FEATURES.

If you select a specific feature, you will have the opportunity to select which of the available attributes for that feature will be exported. If you select ALL FEATURES, all of the attributes for all of the features will be exported.

Variable Group

Click on the down arrow in this selection box to select the Variable Group that you wish to work with. Each of the available groups is described below.

Attributes

Each of the available attributes for the selected feature will be listed here. If you have selected ALL FEATURES, no attributes will be listed.

Coordinates

X, Y and Z variables in both Lat/Lon/Height and North/East/Elev format are available. The North/East/Elev format is only applicable if you have selected Northing-Easting in the **Settings** dialog box.

Feature

A variety of attributes concerning the feature are available, including Feature Name, Time and Date logged, Area, Perimeter, etc.

GPS

The GPS indicators for the feature can be selected.

Miscellaneous

The Project Name, Projection/Zone information and a User Text String field are available.

Items selected from the Variable Groups are added to the **Export Variables** list by clicking on the **Add** button. You may add as many variables to the Export Variables list as necessary, and you may list the same variable multiple times.

File Header/Footer

Add file header or footer information to your ASCII file format by clicking on the **Header/Footer...** button. The **Header/Footer Definition** dialog box will be displayed.

Header Text

Select from the available options for the header text. If you choose to insert a file, click on the **Browse** button to choose the TXT file that you wish to insert. If you select to insert a string, type it into the data box to the right of the prompt.

Header / Footer Defin	ition	×
Header Text	Browse.,	.]
🗖 Use String 📃		
🗖 Add Variables / F	ïelds titles 🛛 🔲 Add Projection / Zone info	
Footer Text		
🗖 Insert File	Browse	
🗖 Use String 📃		
	OK Cancel	

Footer Text

Select from the available options for the footer text. If you choose to insert a file, click on the **Browse** button to choose the .TXT file that you wish to insert.

If you select to insert a string, type it into the data box to the right of the prompt.

Click on the **OK** button to save any changes and return to the **ASCII Export** dialog box.

Field Separator

Specify the field separator by clicking on the **Field Separator** button. The **Field Separator** dialog box will be displayed.

Field Separator		×
Select Separat Comma Space Tab Field separato	or C CR+LF C None C String ar string:	OK Cancel

Select Separator

Select from the available options for the field separator. If you choose to insert string as the field separator, type it into the data box to the right of the prompt.

The selected separator will be inserted between each variable in the ASCII file.

Click on the **OK** button to save any changes and return to the **ASCII Export** dialog box.

Note: A \ separator will be appended to exported attributes if they have a submenu item.

Variable Order

After the desired variables have been added to the **Export Variables** list, you can arrange the order of the variables using the **Up** and **Down** buttons. Simply highlight a variable and click on the **Up** or **Down** button to change its location in the list.

If you would like to remove a variable from the **Export Variables** list, highlight the variable and click on the **Remove** button.

Formatting Variables

Once a variable has been added to the **Export Variables** list, you can further format the variable by highlighting it in the **Export Variables** list and clicking on the **Format** button.

Field Units

Use this field to specify if you want to export the variable 'as is', or if you want to force upper or lower case.

Pole::Height	
Field Units	OK
Field Formating	Cancel
Number of decimal places: 6	
Pad with zeroes	
Exponential numbers	
User text:	

Field Formatting

Use the fields in this section to specify a fixed field width, decimal precision, padding with zeroes, justification and if you would like to use exponential numbers.

Click on the **OK** button to save any changes and return to the **ASCII Export** dialog box. Click on the **Export** button to create the ASCII text file in the specified data directory.

Prepare > File Transfer

The **Prepare > File Transfer** menu option allows you to transfer projects and other files between SOLO Office and your field data collector. You must be connected to your field data collector using Microsoft ActiveSync or Windows Mobile Device Center in order to access the file transfer utility. When you select **Prepare > File Transfer**, the **CE File Transfer** dialog box will be displayed.

The **CE File Transfer** dialog box contains two columns, **Local Directory** and **Remote Directory**, separated by action buttons. The default selection for the **Local Directory** is the **Data Directory** specified in the **File** page of the **Settings** dialog box. The default selection for the **Remote Directory** is the root directory of the data collector.

The **View Local Files of Type** and **View Remote Files of Type** fields located below the columns allow you to indicate a specific file type to be displayed in the column. The default is to display All Files. The **Current Local Drive** field allows you to change the current drive.



You can navigate through the folders of either the Local Directory or the Remote Directory by double-clicking on the desired folder or the Up One Level folder.

Upload

Highlight the file in the Local Directory that you wish to upload to your field data collector and click on the [**Upload**] button.

Download

Highlight the file in the Remote Directory that you wish to download to your PC and click on the **[Download]** button.

Delete

Highlight the file in either directory that you wish to remove and click on the **Delete** button.

For batch file transfer options, select **Prepare > Remote File List > Download** to transfer files from your data collector to your PC, or select **Prepare > Project File List > Upload** to transfer project files from your PC to your data collector.

Prepare > Remote File List > Download

The **Prepare > Remote File List > Download** menu option allows you to specify a list of files to transfer from your data collector to your PC. When you select **Prepare > Remote File List > Download**, the **List and Download Remote Files** dialog box will be displayed.

The **List and Download Remote Files** dialog box will allow you to query your data collector for specific file types and then provides a list of the query results. You can then select the desired files from the list for transfer or deletion.

The **Show Files of Type** field allows you to specify the types of files that you would like to search the data collector for. Click on the **Query Remote File List** button to search the data collector. The results will be listed in the file list box. By default, the box labeled **Don't query files in the \Windows Folder** is checked. This selection will stop SOLO Office from looking in the \Windows folder when performing the query, significantly reducing the amount of time necessary to perform the query.

📲 List and Download Ren	note Files					<u>_ 0 ×</u>
Show Files of Type: Pro	oject Files *.udf			•	Query Remote File List	Don't query files in Windows Folder
Select All	Total n Numbe Total si	umber of files: r of files selected: ze of selected files:	3 0 0 bytes	D	ownload Selected	Delete Selected
Name 1	Type Size t		Remote Folder			
Sample_BACKUP.UDF (Sample.udf (UDF 24.9KB (UDF Obvtes (14726702 04:09 PM 15731702 06:10 AM	\My Documents\ \My Documents\			
myudf.udf l	UDF 4.05 KB (6/04/02 01:24 PM	\My Documents\			
1						

Select files from the list by clicking on the file name. You may select multiple files by holding down the Shift key or the Control key as you click on the file names. Click on the **Select All** button to select all of the files, or you may select the inverse of your selected files by clicking on the **Invert Selection** button. Once a file or files have been selected, the **Download Selected** or **Delete Selected** buttons will become active.

Download Options

To review the download directory and other download options, click on the **Download Options** button to display the **Download Options** dialog box.

Destination Folder

Download Options	×
CSelect Destination Folder on Local Computer for Downloa	ded Files
Settings\Kevin\My Documents\SoloOffice\Downloads\	Select
Download Options	
✓ Don't overwrite local files if they exist.	(If overwrites are allowed, confirmation will still always be asked before overwriting.)
Create new sub-folder for each download.	(A folder with a name patterned like "DeviceName_Jan01_2000_1200" will be created to store the downloaded files.)
	OK Cancel

Select the destination folder on your PC by clicking on the Select button.

Don't Overwrite Local Files

This option will protect existing files on your PC from being overwritten by the files on your data collector.

Create New Sub-folder

This option will create a new sub-folder in the specified destination folder each time the download function is used. The folder name will be based upon a combination of the time and date of the file transfer.

Click on the **OK** button to verify your selections and return to the **List and Download Remote Files** dialog box.

Prepare > Project File List > Upload

The **Prepare > Project File List > Upload** menu option provides you with a list of all of the files associated with the currently open UDF Project. You may then select any or all of these files for a batch transfer to your data collector.

When you select **Prepare > Project File List > Upload**, the **List and Upload Project Files** dialog box will be displayed.

	iect Files				
Project: C:\Documents	and Settings\K	(evin\My	Documents\	SoloOffice\Sample.udf	
Query the Remote Co for file size and date n files, and checks free	mputer. Check natch with local space available	.s e	Query Re	mote	Remote Disk Free Space Total Space
Select All	Select B	asemap I	iiles Ni Ni To	umber of files in Project: umber of files selected: otal size of selected files	42 Upload Selected Package Selected 0 Upload Options Package Selected
List of files in this pr	oject. The "Qu	ery Rem	ote" button wi	ill update the Status col	umn indicating if the local file matches (date and size) the remote file.
Name	l Status	Tune	Size	Date	Local Folder
Name BentonCounty MID	Status Exists Local	Type MID	Size 79 butes	Date 02/18/02_03:49 PM	Local Folder
Name BentonCounty.MID BentonCounty.mit	Status Exists Local Exists Local	MID MIF	Size 79 bytes 25 6 KB	Date 02/18/02 03:49 PM 02/18/02 03:49 PM	
Name BentonCounty.MID BentonCounty.mif BentonCounty_MIF.bli	Status Exists Local Exists Local Exists Local	MID MIF BLI	Size 79 bytes 25.6 KB 6.50 KB	Date 02/18/02 03:49 PM 02/18/02 03:49 PM 06/05/02 08:22 AM	Local Folder I C:\Documents and Settings\Kevin\My Documents\SDLD\ C:\Documents and Settings\Kevin\My Documents\SDLD\ C:\Documents and Settings\Kevin\My Documents\SolD[fice\Bil\
Name BentonCounty.MID BentonCounty.mif BentonCounty_MIF.bli Cloolvin.DBF	Status Exists Local Exists Local Exists Local Exists Local	Type MID MIF BLI DBF	Size 79 bytes 25.6 KB 6.50 KB 267 bytes	Date 02/18/02 03:49 PM 02/18/02 03:49 PM 06/05/02 08:22 AM 12/03/01 07:31 PM	Local Folder C:\Documents and Settings\Kevin\My Documents\SDLD\ C:\Documents and Settings\Kevin\My Documents\SDLD\ C:\Documents and Settings\Kevin\My Documents\SOLO\ C:\Documents and Settings\Kevin\My Documents\SDLD\ C:\Documents and Settings\Kevin\My Documents
Name BentonCounty.MID BentonCounty.mif BentonCounty_MIF.bli Clpolyin.DBF Cloolyin.sho	Status Exists Local Exists Local Exists Local Exists Local Exists Local	Type MID MIF BLI DBF SHP	Size 79 bytes 25.6 KB 6.50 KB 267 bytes 18.6 KB	Date 02/18/02 03:49 PM 02/18/02 03:49 PM 06/05/02 08:22 AM 12/03/01 07:31 PM 12/03/01 07:31 PM	Local Folder I C:\Documents and Settings\Kevin\My Documents\SDLD\ C:\Documents and Settings\Kevin\My Documents\SDLD\ C:\Documents and Settings\Kevin\My Documents\S0LD\ C:\Documents and Settings\Kevin\My Documents\SDLD\ C:\Documents and Settings\Kevin\My Documents\SDLD\
Name BentonCounty.MID BentonCounty.mif BentonCounty_MIF.bli Clpolyin.DBF Clpolyin.shp Clpolyin.SHX	Status Exists Local Exists Local Exists Local Exists Local Exists Local Exists Local	Type MID MIF BLI DBF SHP SHX	Size 79 bytes 25.6 KB 6.50 KB 267 bytes 18.6 KB 116 bytes	Date 02/18/02 03:49 PM 02/18/02 03:49 PM 06/05/02 08:22 AM 12/03/01 07:31 PM 12/03/01 07:31 PM 12/03/01 07:31 PM	Local Folder C:\Documents and Settings\Kevin\My Documents\S0L0\ C:\Documents\S0L0\ C:\Documents and Settings\Kevin\My Documents\S0L0\ C:\Documents and Settings\Kevin\My Documents\S0L0\ C:\Documents and Settings\Kevin\My Documents\S0L0\ C:\Documents and Settings\Kevin\My Documents\S0L0\ C:\Documents\S0L0\ C:\Documents and Settings\Kevin\My Documents\S0L0\ C:\Do
Name BentonCounty.MID BentonCounty.mif BentonCounty_MIF.bli Clpolyin.DBF Clpolyin.shp Clpolyin.SHX Cor1.sif	Status Exists Local Exists Local Exists Local Exists Local Exists Local Exists Local Exists Local Exists Local	Type MID MIF BLI DBF SHP SHX SIF	Size 79 bytes 25.6 KB 6.50 KB 267 bytes 18.6 KB 116 bytes 1,075 KB	Date 02/18/02 03:49 PM 02/18/02 03:49 PM 06/05/02 08:22 AM 12/03/01 07:31 PM 12/03/01 07:31 PM 12/03/01 07:31 PM 10/16/00 03:10 PM	Local Folder 14 C:\Documents and Settings\Kevin\My Documents\SDL0\ C:\Documents and Settings\Kevin\My Documents\S0L0\ C:\Documents and Settings\Kevin\My Documents\S0L0\
Name BentonCounty.MID BentonCounty.mif BentonCounty_MIF.bli Clpolyin.DBF Clpolyin.shp Clpolyin.SHX Cor1.sif Cor2.sif	Status Exists Local Exists Local Exists Local Exists Local Exists Local Exists Local Exists Local Exists Local	Type MID MIF BLI DBF SHP SHX SIF SIF	Size 79 bytes 25.6 KB 6.50 KB 267 bytes 18.6 KB 116 bytes 1,075 KB 1,170 KB	Date 02/18/02 03:49 PM 02/18/02 03:49 PM 06/05/02 08:22 AM 12/03/01 07:31 PM 12/03/01 07:31 PM 12/03/01 07:31 PM 10/16/00 03:10 PM 10/17/00 04:14 PM	Local Folder C:\Documents and Settings\Kevin\My Documents\S0L0\ C:\Documents and Settings\Kevin\My Documents
Name BentonCounty.MID BentonCounty.mif BentonCounty_MIF.bli Cipolyin.DBF Cipolyin.Shp Cort.sif Cor2.sif Extents.dat	Status Exists Local Exists Local Exists Local Exists Local Exists Local Exists Local Exists Local Exists Local Exists Local	Type MID MIF BLI DBF SHP SHX SIF SIF DAT	Size 79 bytes 25.6 KB 6.50 KB 267 bytes 18.6 KB 116 bytes 1,075 KB 1,170 KB 457 bytes	Date 02/18/02 03:49 PM 02/18/02 03:49 PM 06/05/02 08:22 AM 12/03/01 07:31 PM 12/03/01 07:31 PM 10/16/00 03:10 PM 10/17/00 04:14 PM 02/15/02 07:45 PM	Local Folder 1- C:\Documents and Settings\Kevin\My Documents\SOLO\ C:\Documents and Settings\Kevin\My Documents\SOLO\
Name BentonCounty.MID BentonCounty.mif BentonCounty_MIF.bli Cipolyin.DBF Cipolyin.shp Cipolyin.shy Cor1.sif Cor2.sif Extents.dat HYDRANT.DBF	Status Exists Local Exists Local Exists Local Exists Local Exists Local Exists Local Exists Local Exists Local Exists Local Exists Local	Type MID MIF BLI DBF SHP SHX SIF SIF DAT DBF	Size 79 bytes 25.6 KB 6.50 KB 267 bytes 18.6 KB 116 bytes 1,075 KB 1,170 KB 457 bytes 180 KB	Date 02/18/02 03:49 PM 02/18/02 03:49 PM 06/05/02 08:22 AM 12/03/01 07:31 PM 12/03/01 07:31 PM 12/03/01 07:31 PM 10/16/00 03:10 PM 10/16/00 03:10 PM 10/17/00 04:14 PM 02/15/02 07:45 PM 12/03/01 07:31 PM	Local Folder 1- C:\Documents and Settings\Kevin\My Documents\SDL0\ C:\Documents and Settings\Kevin\My Documents\SDL0\
Name BentonCounty.MID BentonCounty.mif BentonCounty_MIF.bli Cipolyin.Shp Cipolyin.Shp Corl.sif Corl.sif Cor2.sif Extents.dat HYDRANT.DBF HYDRANT.SHP	Status Exists Local Exists Local	Type MID MIF BLI DBF SHP SHX SIF SIF DAT DBF SHP	Size 79 bytes 25.6 KB 6.50 KB 267 bytes 18.6 KB 116 bytes 1.075 KB 1.770 KB 457 bytes 180 KB 442 KB	Date 02/18/02 03:49 PM 02/18/02 03:49 PM 06/05/02 03:49 PM 12/03/01 07:31 PM 12/03/01 07:31 PM 12/03/01 07:31 PM 10/16/00 03:10 PM 10/16/00 03:10 PM 10/17/00 04:14 PM 12/03/01 07:31 PM 12/03/01 07:31 PM 12/03/01 07:31 PM 12/03/01 07:31 PM	Local Folder 1- C:\Documents and Settings\Kevin\My Documents\S0L0\ .
Name BentonCounty.MID BentonCounty.mif BentonCounty_MIF.bli Clpolyin.Shp Clpolyin.Shp Cor1.sif Cor2.sif Extents.dat HYDRANT.DBF HYDRANT.SHP HYDRANT.SHX	Status Exists Local Exists Local	MID MIF BLI DBF SHP SHX SIF SIF DAT DBF SHP SHX	Size 79 bytes 25.6 KB 6.50 KB 267 bytes 18.6 KB 116 bytes 1,075 KB 1,170 KB 457 bytes 180 KB 442 KB 12.7 KB	Date 02/18/02 03:49 PM 02/18/02 03:49 PM 06/05/02 08:22 AM 12/03/01 07:31 PM 12/03/01 07:31 PM 12/03/01 07:31 PM 10/16/00 03:10 PM 10/17/00 04:14 PM 12/03/01 07:31 PM	Local Folder 12 C:\Documents and Settings\Kevin\My Documents\SDL0\ :\Documents and Settings\Kevin\My Documents\SDL0\ C:\Documents and Settings\Kevin\My Documents\SDL0\ :\Documents and Settings\Kevin\My Documents\SDL0\ C:\Documents and Settings\Kevin\My Documents\SDL0\ :\Documents\SDL0\
Name BentonCounty.MID BentonCounty.mif BentonCounty_MIF.bli Cipolyin.DBF Cipolyin.shp Cipolyin.shX Cor1.sif Cor2.sif Extents.dat HYDRANT.SHP HYDRANT.SHP HYDRANT_SHP HYDRANT_SHP Bi	Status Exists Local Exists Local	Type MID MIF BLI DBF SHP SHX SIF SIF DAT DBF SHP SHX BLI	Size 79 bytes 25.6 KB 6.50 KB 267 bytes 18.6 KB 116 bytes 1.075 KB 4.170 KB 457 bytes 180 KB 44.2 KB 12.7 KB 6.50 KB	Date 02/18/02 03:49 PM 02/18/02 03:49 PM 06/05/02 08:22 AM 12/03/01 07:31 PM 12/03/01 07:31 PM 12/03/01 07:31 PM 12/16/00 03:10 PM 10/16/00 03:10 PM 10/17/00 04:14 PM 02/15/02 07:45 PM 12/03/01 07:31 PM 12/03/01 07:31 PM 12/03/01 07:31 PM 12/03/01 07:31 PM 06/05/02 08:23 AM	Local Folder 14 C:\Documents and Settings\Kevin\My Documents\SDL0\ C:\Documents and Settings\Kevin\My Documents\SDL0\
Name BentonCounty.MID BentonCounty.MIF.bli Clpolyin.DBF Clpolyin.Shp Clpolyin.Shp Cor1.sif Cor2.sif Extents.dat HYDRANT.DBF HYDRANT.SHP HYDRANT.SHP HYDRANT.SHP.bli DFTWIP	Status Exists Local Exists Local	Type MID MIF BLI DBF SHP SHX SIF DAT DBF SHP SHX BLI	Size 79 bytes 25.6 KB 6.50 KB 267 bytes 116 bytes 1,075 KB 1,170 KB 1,170 KB 457 bytes 180 KB 44.2 KB 12.7 KB 6.50 KB	Date 02/18/02 03:49 PM 02/18/02 03:49 PM 06/05/02 08:22 AM 12/03/01 07:31 PM 12/03/01 07:31 PM 12/03/01 07:31 PM 10/16/00 03:10 PM 10/15/00 07:31 PM 12/03/01 07:31 PM 06/05/02 02:32 AM 06/05/02 02:32 AM	Local Folder 1 C:\Documents and Settings\Kevin\My Documents\S0L0\ C:\Documents and Settings\Kevin\My Documen

The current project is displayed in the Project field, and cannot be edited. All of the files associated with the project are listed in the list box at the bottom of the dialog box.

Select files from the list by clicking on the file name. You may select multiple files by holding down the Shift key or the Control key as you click on the file names.

You may select all of the listed files by clicking on the **Select All** button. You may select all of the basemap and image files, and their associated files by clicking on the **Select Basemap Files** button. Finally, you may select the inverse of your selected files by clicking on the **Invert Selection** button. Once a file or files have been selected, the **Upload Selected** button will be active.

Package Selected

To compress and package selected files into a self-extracting SPF (SOLO Package file), select files from the list and click on the **Package Selected** button. A standard Windows **Save As** dialog box will be displayed. When SPF files contain multiple vector layers with the same name, they will be renamed to avoid conflicts upon extraction.

Upload Options

To review or modify the upload directories and other upload options for your data collector, click on the **Upload Options** button. The **Upload Options** dialog box will be displayed.

Destination Folders

Select the destination folder(s) on your data collector by clicking on the appropriate **Select** buttons. Alternatively, you can default to the folder on the data collector that was most recently used by SOLO Office by clicking on the **Query Remote** button.

Don't Upload Files which Match

This option will prevent SOLO Office from uploading files that have the same size and date as files currently existing in the destination folder on your data collector.

Overwriting Options

Specify whether you wish to **Ask Before** overwriting files, **Never** overwrite files or **Always** overwrite files.

Basemap Folder							Select.
Data Folder	Γ						Select.
Application Folder	r [Select
C n	Query the most recer	Remote C ntly used t	Computer for by the field so	the folders oftware.	Que	ery Remote	
oload Options							
Don't upload	d files whic	ch match (date and size	e) the remote fil	e.		
Don't upload	d files whic	ch match (date and siz	e) the remote fil	e.		
 Don't upload Over-Writing Opti Ask before o 	d files whic tions overwriting	ch match () existing f	date and siz	e) the remote fil	e.		
 Don't upload Over-Writing Opti Ask before o Never overw 	d files whic tions overwriting vrite.	ch match () existing f	date and size	e) the remote fil	e.		
 Don't upload Over-Writing Opti Ask before o Never overw Always overw 	d files whic tions overwriting vrite. write.	ch match () existing f	date and siz	e) the remote fil	e		
Don't upload Over-Writing Opti Ask before o Never overw Always overw Don't overwr	d files which tions overwriting vrite. write. rite existin	ch match () existing f g BLI files	date and size	e) the remote fil	e.		
Don't upload Over-Writing Opti Ask before o Never overw Always overw Don't overwr	d files which tions overwriting write. write. rite existin Options	ch match () existing f g BLI files	date and size iles.	e) the remote fil	e		
Don't upload Over-Writing Opti Ask before o Never overw Always overw Don't overwr He Modification (Modify uploa	d files which tions	ch match () existing f g BLI files map confi	date and size iles. guration to u	e) the remote fil se fast draw se	e.	(Turns off sets thin li	area fill, and

You may also choose not to overwrite existing DAT files. These files are computer-specific files containing information about your basemap files.

File Modification Options

These options allow you to automatically modify the selected Basemap Configuration File (.BMC) to use fast draw (no fill and thin lines) and non-color (all colors set to black) modes.

Click on the **OK** button to verify your selections and return to the **List and Upload Project Files** dialog box.

Prepare > Package File List

The **Prepare > Package File List** menu option allows you to search folders on your PC for SPF files. When you select **Prepare > Package File List**, the **List SOLO Package File** dialog box will be displayed. You may select the desired SPF file by clicking the **Select** button. The contents of the SPF file will be displayed in the list box.

The default is to sort the results alphabetically by name. You may change the display order by clicking on the column headings.

, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,	Documents and Settings\Kevin\My Document	s\SoloOffice\Sample.SPF	•		Se	lect
Number of files in SPF: Size of SPF:	55 SPF Version: 4,402 KB Size Extracted:	2 A	dd Extr	act Delet	e Re-P	'ack
	List of fil	es in this Package File.				
Name	Original Folder	Destination	Storage Name	Туре	Size Original	Size I 4
Alaska Cedar.jpg	C:\Solo Data Files\Needles\	DataFolder\Needles	54	User Added	39.6 KB	
BentonCounty.MID	C:\Solo Data Files\Basemaps\SampleNew\		21	Basemap	79 bytes	
BentonCounty.mif	C:\Solo Data Files\Basemaps\SampleNew\		24	Basemap	25.6 KB	
3entonCounty_MIF.bli	C:\Solo Data Files\Bli\		0	Basemap Info	7.50 KB	
Clpolyin.DBF	C:\Solo Data Files\Basemaps\SampleNew\		17	Basemap	267 bytes	
Clpolyin.shp	C:\Solo Data Files\Basemaps\SampleNew\		31	Basemap	18.6 KB	
Clpolyin.SHX	C:\Solo Data Files\Basemaps\SampleNew\		38	Basemap	116 bytes	
Clpolyin_SHP.bli	C:\Solo Data Files\Bli\		4	Basemap Info	6.50 KB	
Cor1.sif	C:\Solo Data Files\Basemaps\SampleNew\		41	Basemap	1,075 KB	
Cor2.sif	C:\Solo Data Files\Basemaps\SampleNew\		40	Basemap	1,170 KB	
Douglas Fir.jpg	C:\Solo Data Files\Needles\	DataFolder\Needles	46	User Added	23.1 KB	
Extents.dat	C:\Solo Data Files\		11	Project Support	457 bytes	
HYDRANT.DBF	C:\Solo Data Files\Basemaps\SampleNew\		13	Basemap	180 KB	
HYDRANT.SHP	C:\Solo Data Files\Basemaps\SampleNew\		30	Basemap	44.2 KB	
HYDRANT.SHX	C:\Solo Data Files\Basemaps\SampleNew\		35	Basemap	12.7 KB	
HYDRANT_SHP.bli	C:\Solo Data Files\Bli\		5	Basemap Info	6.50 KB	
ncense Cedar.jpg	C:\Solo Data Files\Needles\	DataFolder\Needles	47	User Added	48.7 KB	
.odgepole Pine.jpg	C:\Solo Data Files\Needles\	DataFolder\Needles	48	User Added	41.0 KB	
NeedleList.txt	C:\Solo Data Files\Needles\	DataFolder\Needles	49	User Added	134 bytes	
Dregon.MID	C:\Solo Data Files\Basemaps\SampleNew\		22	Basemap	49 bytes	
Oregon mit	C:\Solo Data Files\Basemans\SampleNew\		23	Baseman	103 KB	

File information includes the **Number of files in SPF**, the **Size of SPF** when compressed, the **SPF version** and **Size Extracted** displays the total size of all the files in the SPF when extracted.

The Add button allows you to add individual files to the package.

The **Extract** button allows you to copy a file or set of files to another location without removing the file(s) from the package.

The **Delete** button allows you to permanently remove a file or files from the packages.

The **Re-Package** button allows you to repackage the package after you have made changes.

Prepare > UDF File Browser

The **Prepare > UDF File Browser** menu option allows you to search folders on your PC for UDF files. When you select **Prepare > UDF File Browser**, the **UDF Project File Browser** dialog box will be displayed.

You may specify the **Search Folder** by clicking on the **Select** button. The search routine will search the specified folder as well as sub-folders. Initiate the search by clicking on the **Search** button.

The results of the UDF search will be displayed in the list box. The default is to sort the results alphabetically by name. You may change the display order by clicking on the column headings.

Like the **Search** function, the **Search/Scan** function will search the specified folder for .UDF files. However, instead of just listing the file name and location, it will give more information on the file such as the number of points in the file, number of tags, operators etc. To stop the search, click on the **Cancel** button.

Search Folder: ments and	d Settings\Kevin\My Documents\Solo	Office\ Select	Search	Examine/Edit
List of UDF project files fo Currently opened UDF pr	ound under the Search Folder. rojects will not be listed.	Option - at dialog open: — Search Scan	Search/Sca	an Merge Selected Save Report
Name Fit It.udf C testing.udf C Sample_BACKUP.UDF C Sample.udf C myudf.udf C	older \Documents and Settings\Kevin\My \Documents and Settings\Kevin\My \Documents and Settings\Kevin\My \Documents and Settings\Kevin\My	Documents\SoloOffice\ Documents\SoloOffice\ Documents\SoloOffice\ Documents\SoloOffice\ Documents\SoloOffice\	#Pts #Features #	Tags First Pt Last Pt Last Name

You may store an ASCII text report of the results of either type of search by clicking on the **Save Report** button. A default file name of UDF_List will be supplied, however, you may rename the file before saving.

You can set the UDF File Browser to automatically **Search** or **Search/Scan** at the initial opening of the dialog by selecting the appropriate checkbox.

Examining and Editing UDF Files

You may examine and edit a UDF file by selecting the file in the list box and clicking on the **Examine/Edit** button. The contents of the UDF file will be displayed in the **UDF Edit** dialog box.

👍 Sample_BAC	Sample_BACKUP.UDF - UdfEdit						
File Record							
Record Type	Ver	Contents 🔺					
Attribute	2	Feature #: 4, Name: Photo, Type: St					
Point	2	Feature #: 4, Point #: 4, Name: View					
End of Feature	1	Feature #: 4					
Feature	2	Feature #: 5, Name: ParkInfo, Type:					
Attribute	2	Feature #: 5, Name: AREA, Type: Nutrian					
Attribute	2	Feature #: 5, Name: ACRES, Type: N					
Attribute	2	Feature #: 5, Name: LNDVAL, Type: I					
Attribute	2	Feature #: 5, Name: ST_NAME, Type:					
Attribute	2	Feature #: 5, Name: Name, Type: St					
Point	2	Feature #: 5, Point #: 5, Name: Park					
End of Feature	1	Feature #: 5					
Feature	2	Feature #: 6, Name: Fence, Type: Lir					
Attribute	2	Feature #: 6, Name: Name, Type: St					
Point	2	Feature #: 6, Point #: 6, Name: Fenc					
Point	2	Feature #: 6. Point #: 8. Name: Feor					
•							

You may also access the **UDF Edit** dialog box by double clicking on a UDF file in the list box.

To edit the contents of the UDF File, double click on the selected record type. Depending upon the record type selected, the appropriate **Edit Record** dialog box will be displayed. You may modify information such as name, type, color and lat/long.

Merging UDF Files

You may merge two or more UDF files into a single file by first highlighting the desired files, then clicking on the **Merge Selected Files** button. A standard Windows **Save As** dialog box will be displayed where you can enter a file name and navigate through the available folders.

If either of the UDF files being merged also have an associated RDL file, a new RDL file will be created with the same name as the new UDF file and contain all the data from the original associated RDL file(s).

Prepare > Convert UDF to Version 1...

You may convert the currently active UDF file to a version 1 UDF. When you select **Prepare > Convert UDF to Version 1**, a dialog will appear warning you that there may be some loss of data in the conversion. If you select **Yes** to proceed, a standard **Save-As** dialog will appear. Enter a name for the version 1 UDF file. If you give the new UDF a slightly different name, then the original file will still be intact in its original version.

Prepare > Waypoint File

SOLO Office allows you to create or edit a Waypoint file (.way) for use with your field data collector. When you select **Prepare > Waypoint File**, the **Waypoint File Creation** dialog box will be displayed.

Waypoint File Creation				×
Row Name Latitude Lor 1 44*34'06.672'' N 12' 2 44*34'06.66'' N 12' 3 44*34'06.66'' N 12'	ngitude Elevation 3°18'44.72''W 0.00 m 3°18'46.08''W 0.00 m 3°18'47.43''W 0.00 m	Description		Number of points: 134
4 44*34'06.62" N 12: 5 44*34'06.59" N 12: 6 44*34'06.55" N 12: 7 44*34'06.52" N 12: 8 44*34'06.49" N 12:	3°18'48.79" W 0.00 m 3°18'50.15" W 0.00 m 3°18'51.51" W 0.00 m 3°18'52.87" W 0.00 m 3°18'54.23" W 0.00 m			Clear All Delete Selected
9 44'34'05.45''N 12: 10 44'34'05.642''N 12: 11 44'34'05.75''N 12: 12 44'34'05.72''N 12: 13 44'34'05.66''N 12: 14 44'34'05.66''N 12: 15 44'34'05.62''N 12: 16 44'34'05.56''N 12: 17 44'34'05.56''N 12:	3'18'56.55''W 0.00 m 3'18'56.95''W 0.00 m 3'18'46.03''W 0.00 m 3'18'46.03''W 0.00 m 3'18'47.39''W 0.00 m 3'18'87''W 0.00 m 3'18'50.10''W 0.00 m 3'18'51.46''W 0.00 m		•	Load file Append from file Save to File
Waypoint Add or Change Name Latitude 44.568449 Longitude -123.315818 Elevation 0.00	DD.DDDD	Add Waypoint Change Selected	Input Data Format Lat/Lon: Elevation uni O DD.DDDD O DD.MMSSSS O DDMM.SSSS Input text file columns must be:	ts (from Settings):
			Point Name, Lat, Lon, Elevation, Des	cription

Add Waypoint

To add a waypoint to the file, enter the Name, Latitude, Longitude, Elevation and a brief Description into the fields in the lower-left corner of the dialog box. The Latitude and Longitude must be entered in DD.DDDD format. Click on the **Add Waypoint** button to add the waypoint to the list displayed in the upper-left corner of the dialog box.

Change Selected

You may edit an existing waypoint by highlighting it in the list and then making the necessary changes to the name, position and description fields. Click the **Change Selected** button to apply the changes.

Clear All

Click on the **Clear All** button to remove all of the currently listed waypoints from the waypoint list.

Delete Selected

To delete a single waypoint from the waypoint list, highlight it and click on the **Delete Selected** button.

Load File

You my load three types of files into the **Waypoint File Creation** dialog box: Waypoint files (.way), UDF Project files (.udf) or ASCII text files (.txt). Click on the **Load File** button to display a standard Windows **Open** dialog box. There you can select the type of file that you wish to load and use the navigation tools to select the desired file.

Before opening an ASCII text file, you will need to specify the format for the latitude and longitude. Three options are available: DD.DDDD, DD.MMSSSS and DDMM.SSSS. Click on the radio button for the desired format to select it, prior to clicking on the **Load File** button.

Note: The format for the ASCII text file must be Point Name, Latitude, Longitude, Elevation, Description, with each column separated by a comma.

Append from File

SOLO Office will also allow you to append waypoints from any of the above mentioned file formats to the existing waypoint list. Click on the **Append from File** button to display a standard Windows **Open** dialog box. There you can select the type of file that you wish to load and use the navigation tools to select the desired file.

Before opening an ASCII text file, you will need to specify the format for the latitude and longitude. Three options are available: DD.DDDD, DD.MMSSSS and DDMM.SSSS. Click on the radio button for the desired format to select it, prior to clicking on the **Append from File** button.

Note: The format for the ASCII text file must be Point Name, Latitude, Longitude, Elevation, Description, with each column separated by a comma.

Save to File

When you are satisfied with the waypoints in the waypoint list, you can store the waypoints to a waypoint file for download into your data collector. Click on the **Save to File** button to display a standard Windows **Save As** dialog box. Specify the file name and use the navigation tools to specify the data directory. Click on the **Save** button to create the waypoint file.

Prepare > Create Zone File

Most GPS equipment, such as SOLO, record *geodetic* coordinates. The horizontal geodetic coordinates are stored in latitudes and longitudes and the vertical coordinate is an *ellipsoid height*.

Since most GIS systems work with data in a standard plane coordinate system, expressed in northings, eastings, and elevations, the data must go through a transformation before it can be used. This conversion is one place where the Create Zone File and Geodetic Conversion functions in SOLO Office are useful.

Before getting into a detailed description of these functions, it may be helpful to review some information about projections and transformations.

Projection Systems

Ellipsoidal surface geometry is fairly complicated and, therefore, latitudes and longitudes are not convenient for distance and azimuth computations. Instead, some system of plane coordinates is most often used. In most cases, it is reasonable to treat a job site that occupies only a small area as if it were flat - no corrections need be made to account for the curvature of the earth.

It is often desirable, however, to provide ties to other control in the larger area surrounding the site. Such numerical ties might serve as the "glue" which binds the data in a GIS. The use of plane coordinates then presents a dilemma: it is not possible to create a rectangular grid on the earth's surface. Technically speaking, the surface of a sphere or ellipsoid is not *developable*. This is the same problem that confronts mapmakers, whose solution has been to first project the earth's surface onto another surface, such as a plane, cone, or cylinder, which *is* developable.

Standard projection systems, such as State Plane Coordinates in the United States, were created several decades ago to allow surveyors to work in a unified framework where plane trigonometric formulas *almost* apply. The word "almost" reflects the fact that all map projections are distorted; some corrections must be applied because the scale factor cannot be considered to be constant over a large area and meridian convergence cannot be ignored.

Because the precise WGS84 latitude and longitude of the base are required for alternative localization methods, plane coordinate input in SOLO Office must be in some system that is convertible to WGS84. Examples of such systems are Universal Transverse Mercator and State Plane. A custom (user-defined) projection can be used, but only if the exact relationship between this system and acceptable geodetic latitudes and longitudes is also provided.

Height Systems and Vertical Datums

Heights are somewhat more closely tied to the real (physical) world than are geodetic latitudes and longitudes. While it is possible to choose a best-fitting ellipsoid for a particular region based on arbitrary criteria, it is not possible, as plumbers know, to arbitrarily select the direction "up". In surveying and GIS work, height networks have traditionally been handled separately from horizontal networks. GPS is changing this.

GPS can be thought of as a precise three-dimensional measurement. All three measurements are given with respect to the WGS84 reference ellipsoid. Unfortunately for height determination, an ellipsoid is not (by itself) a suitable reference surface for elevations. Instead, an *equipotential* surface is used. All points on an equipotential surface are at the same height. A level tabletop is an example of such a surface. A ball placed on this tabletop will not roll unless it is pushed.

An example of an equipotential surface on earth is "mean sea level". This term is not used much anymore because it is rather imprecise. Instead, the term *geoid* is used. Heights referenced to

a surface that approximates the geoid are called *orthometric heights*. Heights output by GPS are called *ellipsoid heights*. These heights are related by

Orthometric height = ellipsoid height
geoid height.

If someone were able to construct a surface on the ellipsoid, a ball placed on this surface would, in general, tend to roll. In fact, it's possible that if the surface were tilted slightly, gravity could cause the ball to roll from a lower ellipsoid height to a higher ellipsoid height. The force of gravity, however, cannot cause a ball to roll from a lower orthometric height to a higher one. Therefore, orthometric heights are much more useful than are ellipsoid heights.

The exact relationship between the ellipsoid, the geoid, and the reference surface (datum) for elevations is rather difficult to determine. Due to modern computers and the availability of a great deal of gravity data, however, the ability to determine this relationship is increasing. This ability, along with the availability of modern leveling data, has prompted the establishment of new, more modern, height Datums. In North America, the National Geodetic Vertical Datum of 1929 (NGVD29) is being supplanted by the North American Vertical Datum of 1988 (NAVD88).

SOLO Office includes utilities to convert between ellipsoid and orthometric heights and between NGVD29, NAVD88 (VERTCON), and EGM96 in most of the United States.

Zone Files

While SOLO CE does offer a wide variety of map projections and datum to select from, it cannot possibly offer a solution to every circumstance. SOLO Office allows you to create custom coordinate conversions that you can download to your data collector for use in the field.

Defined zone parameters, when transferred to your data collector, allow you to display position data directly in the mapping format (map projection, rectilinear grid, vertical geoid datum) of the GIS system you are using for your project.

This is achieved in SOLO Office by referencing large databases of coordinate transformations and geoid data (too large to be loaded into the data collector) and analyzing the information for the mapping area you specify. SOLO Office uses this information to create a series of coefficients that are stored in a Zone file (.ZON). The Zone file is downloaded to the data collector and is selected when you create a project.

The coefficients in the Zone file are then used by SOLO CE to perform real-time conversions into the horizontal and vertical coordinate system you have specified, before they are displayed. Using a Zone file does <u>not</u> change the field GPS data that is stored in the project file. Your field data is always available without modification.

When you select the **Prepare > Create Zone File...** menu option, the **Create Zone File** dialog box will be displayed. There are three major steps to defining the geodetic zone information you wish to use for each project.

Create Zone File				×	
Select Transformation Method: C 3-D Similarity © NGS NADCON Choose Path to NADCON (*.las,*.los) and Geoid (*.geo) Files :					
-Base Coordinate Sy Coordinate System: Horizontal Datum :	Geodetic NAD 1927	•	Survey Coordinate S Coordinate System: Horizontal Datum : Zone :	State Plane 1927 NAD 1927 Alabama East	
Elevation Type: Vertical Datum: Units: Base Latitude : Base Longitude : Ellipsoid Ht :	Ellipsoid WGS 1984 Meters 0.000000000 0.000000000 0.00000000	• •	Elevation Type: Vertical Datum: Units:	Ellipsoid 💽 WGS 1984 💌 Meters 💌	
Recall Zone File Create Close					

Select Transformation Method

Choose between 3-D Similarity and NGS NADCON. As a general rule, if you are working in North America, you should select NGS NADCON. If you are working outside North America, you should select 3-D Similarity. If necessary, you can also specify the folder where SOLO Office can locate needed NADCON and Geoid files.

Base Coordinate System

You will need to enter a base coordinate system and a reference point from which SOLO Office will calculate the transformation parameters to your working coordinate system. If you will be using GPS for data collection, the base coordinate system should be set as in the dialog box above (Geodetic, WGS84). You can then type in the Base Latitude, Base Longitude and Base Ellipsoid Height for your reference point.

Note: You should select a reference point within 10K of the area in which you will be working for the best results.

Survey Coordinate System

In this step you will specify the projection for your project. Select the Coordinate System, Horizontal Datum and Zone from the pull-down lists. You may also choose to transform the elevation data from Ellipsoid to Orthometric. In this case you will also need to specify the extent of the project.

Note: If you are transforming the elevation, you should limit the extent of the zone file to 10K whenever possible to ensure the most accurate elevation calculation. It may be necessary to create more that one Zone file to cover a large area such as a county.

Click on the **Create** button to calculate the transformation parameters. The **Zone File** dialog box will be displayed. This dialog box will display the transformed coordinates of the reference point and the entered values for the reference point. If the results are satisfactory, click on the **Save Zone File** button to save the Zone file.

Custom Coordinate Systems

The procedure described above will allow you to create a Zone file for most of the common transformations. However, if you need to create a Zone file for a custom coordinate system (e.g. a local construction grid), there will be a few more steps.

The first step is to select **Custom** for the **Coordinate System**. If you are using the NGS NADCON method, you must then select between NAD 27 and NAD 83 for the Horizontal Datum. If you are using the 3-D Similarity method, you do not get to select a Horizontal Datum.

In either case, the next step is to create a Projection file by clicking on the **Create File** ... button. The **Create Custom Projection System File** dialog box will be displayed.

Create Custom Projection System File				
Distance Units :	Meters			
Projection Type :	Transverse Mercator			
Lat of Origin:	0.00000000			
Lng of Central Meridian:	0.00000000			
False Northing:	0			
False Easting:	0			
Scale at Central Meridian:	0			
Save Recall Proj Syste	m Cancel			

Distance Units

Select the desired distance units from the pull-down list.

Projection Type

Select the desired projection from the pull-down list.

Depending upon the selection in this field, the fields below Projection Type may change. Enter the necessary information into the displayed fields.

Click on the **Save** button to save the projection system.

If you have selected **NGS NADCON** as the transformation method in the **Create Zone File** dialog box, the projection will be saved with a file extension .PJ5.

If you have selected **3-D Similarity** as the transformation method, the projection will be saved with a file extension .CS5.

You may also click on the **Recall Proj System** button to recall an existing projection file for review or modification.

After the projection has been saved, the **Create Custom Projection System File** dialog box will be closed and you will be returned to the **Create Zone File** dialog box.

The next step is to select the projection file by clicking on the **Choose File** button. A standard **Open** dialog box will be displayed, listing all of the available projection files, depending upon

your selection for transformation method. Simply double-click on the desired projection file, or highlight it and click on the **Open** button. The file name and path should be displayed in the **Crd System File** field above the buttons.

Finally, select the **Elevation Type** and **Units** and, if necessary, the **Vertical Datum** and **Project Extent**.

Click on the **Create** button to calculate the transformation parameters. The **Zone File** dialog box will be displayed. This dialog box will display the transformed coordinates of the reference point and the entered values for the reference point. If the results are satisfactory, click on the **Save Zone File** button to save the Zone file.

Prepare > Geodetic Conversion

When you select the **Geodetic Conversion** option from the **Prepare** pull-down menu, the **Geodetic Conversion** dialog box will be displayed.

The **Geodetic Conversion** dialog box provides two functions: to perform a transformation from a file containing coordinates stored in a particular coordinate system and datum to a different coordinate system and datum and to view the coordinates for a single point after transforming it to a different coordinate system.

Geodetic Conversion	×
Region : C International © U.S.A. (NI Choose Path to NADCON (*.las,*t.los) and Geoid (*.geo) I Select Data Source: © Single Point C From File	GS) Files: C:\Program Files\TDS\SolChoose Path
Input Coordinate System: Geodetic 💌 Horizontal Datum : NAD 1927 💌	Output Coordinate System: Geodetic Horizontal Datum : NAD 1927
Elevation Type: Ellipsoid Vertical Datum: WGS 1984	Elevation Type: Ellipsoid Vertical Datum: WGS 1984
Units : Meters Latitude(DD.MMSSSS): 0.00000000 Longitude: 0.00000000 Ellipsoid Ht : 0.00000 Scale: Convergence:	Units : Meters Image: Constraint of the second sec
Contervy	Close

Region

Select from International or USA.

Path to NADCON or Geoid Files

Click on the **Choose Path** button to select the folder where your NADCON (*.las, .los) or Geoid (.geo) files are located.

Data Source

Click the radio button for Single Point or From File.

Input/Output

Coordinate System

Select the coordinate system of the point(s) that you wish to convert. Select Geodetic if the position(s) are expressed in Latitude and Longitude.

Horizontal Datum

Select the horizontal datum of the point(s) that you wish to convert. Select WGS84 if the positions are expressed in Latitude and Longitude.

Elevation Type

Select Orthometric or Ellipsoid for the elevation type for the point(s) that you wish to convert.

Vertical Datum

Select the vertical datum for the point(s) that you wish to convert. The options available for this field will vary depending upon your selection for Elevation Type.

Units

Select the Height/Distance units for the point(s) that you wish to convert. Select from Meters, US Feet or International Feet.

Position

If you will be converting a single point, enter the horizontal and vertical position of the point in the available fields. Depending upon your selections above, you will either enter the Latitude and Longitude, or a Northing and Easting.

File Type

If you will be converting points from a file, select the file type from the pull-down list in the File Type field. Select from ASCII (NEZ-Lat/Lon OR ENZ-Lon/Lat), TDS .CR5 or Shapefile.

Click on the **Choose File** button to select the file that you wish to convert.

Prepare > Shapefile Extract

The **Prepare > Shapefile Extract** menu option allows you to extract a specific section of an existing Shapefile for easier use on your data collector. This tool is particularly useful for cases where your Shapefiles are too large to physically fit in the data collector, or when you want to work in a specific area.

When you select **Prepare > Shapefile Extract**, the **Shapefile Region Extraction** dialog box will be displayed.



Input File

Select the Shapefile from which you wish to extract a section by clicking on the **Select** button. Only one Shapefile may be selected at a time. However, you may save the coordinates of any section that you have selected for one Shapefile and apply them to another Shapefile, as described below under **Named Regions**.

Select Region

This section of the dialog box displays the coordinates of the center point of the region selected for extraction, as well as the coordinates for the four corners.

Size

This section displays an estimate of the size of the Shapefile that will be created by the extraction process, including the selected attributes.

Attributes Included

This section lists all of the available attributes for the selected Shapefile. The default is to select all of the available attributes for inclusion with the new Shapefile. However, you may deselect attributes that you do not wish to include with the new Shapefile by clicking on the checkbox next to the attribute name and then clicking on the **Apply Settings** button. You may also use the **Select All** and **Select None** buttons to speed up the selection process.

Shapefile Preview

This section of the dialog box displays a graphical view of the selected Shapefile, as well as the region selected for extraction.

You may select a region of the selected Shapefile for extraction in three ways:

- 1) Drawing a "rubber-band" box with your mouse on the Shapefile preview. The coordinate values of the box will be displayed in the **Select Region** section and an estimate of the size of the new Shapefile will be displayed in the **Size** section.
- 2) Type in new coordinates to one of the displayed fields and click on the Apply Settings button. This will cause the selected area to be moved to match the input location. For example, if you typed new coordinates into the Center North coordinate box, the entire selection box would be moved to accommodate the change.
- 3) Type in a new value to the Size field and click on the **Apply Settings** button. This will cause the selection box to shrink or grow according to the change. The coordinates for the center of the selection box will not change.

In addition, selecting or deselecting attributes can change the size of the selection box. The Size of the selected area and the center coordinates of the box will remain the same, but the perimeter of the selected area will expand or contract when the **Apply Settings** button is clicked.

Named Regions

You can save the coordinate values of the selected region for later application to additional Shapefiles by clicking on the **Named Regions** button. The **Saved Regions** dialog box will be displayed.

Saved Regions	×
Enter name for saving current region: Region 1 Save Region	Choose saved region to delete, or double tap to select:
ок	Delete Select

Enter a name for the selected region and click on the **Save Region** button. The region name should then appear in the Name list.

To select an existing region, highlight the name in the name list and click on the **Select** button.

To delete a region from the name list, highlight the name and click on the **Delete** button.

Click on the **OK** button to return to the **Shapefile Region Extraction** dialog box.

Extraction Options

Shapefile Region Extract Options	×
Select Default Folder for Output Shapefiles	
C:\Program Files\TDS\SoloOffice\Office Data\	Select
Select Folder for Storing Generated Support Files	
C:\Program Files\TDS\SoloOffice\Office Data\	Select
Set Default Output Shapefile Suffix	
_out	
[0K]	Cancel

You may set the output folder(s) for the extraction process and specify the output file suffix by clicking on the **Options** button. The **Shapefile Region Extract Options** dialog box will be displayed.

You may set the folder that your new Shapefiles will be stored in by clicking on the **Select** button. You may additionally set the folder where the extraction support files will be stored.

Note: The support files can be large, and if you will not be using the original Shapefile again, you may want to delete the support files when you are finished.

A default file suffix of "_out" will be applied to the new Shapefile (for example: parcel3_out.shp). You may change this suffix in the **Suffix** field.

Click on the **OK** button to return to the **Shapefile Region Extraction** dialog box.

When you are satisfied with the selected region and the extraction options, click on the **Create File** button. A standard Windows **Save As** dialog box will be displayed showing the data folder specified in the **Extract Options** dialog box and the original Shapefile filename with the suffix added. Click the **Save** button to create the new file.

Zoom Options

Zoom All will scale the Shapefile so that all data points will be visible. **Zoom Box** allows you to drag a box around the desired area in the Shapefile preview and zoom in on the area defined by the drawn box.

Prepare > Image Preparation

The **Prepare > Image Preparation** menu option allows you to prepare your background images for use in SOLO CE. The preparation process will generate a new image in TDS' compressed SIF format. When in **Copy/Extract** mode, you can extract a specific region of an image, set Georeference information for the image and set the projection information for the image. When in Transform mode you can open an image and a reference map and use the routine to scale and rotate the reference map to properly overlay on the input image.

When you select **Prepare > Image Preparation**, the **Image Preparation** dialog box will be displayed.



Input Image

Select the Input Image that you wish to prepare for field use by clicking on the **Select** button. Select from MrSID® format (*.sid), Shapefile (*.shp), MapInfo (*.mif), AutoCAD (*.dxf), MicroStation (*.dgn), TDS (*.cr5), UDF (*.udf), SOLO Image (*.sif), GEO (*.tif), JPEG (*.jpg), JPEG2000 (*.jp2, *.jpx, *.jpf), ER Mapper (*.ewc), DOQ (*.doq), and Waypoint files (*.way) file formats. Only one image may be selected at a time.

Extract Tab

The Extract tab contains the columns and lines of the SIF image that will be generated, as well as an estimate of the size of the image. When the Input Image is first selected, the entire image will be included in the Extract Region. You may change the area to be included in the extract region as described below. If you wish to force the inclusion of the entire image, check the box labeled **Output whole image**.

Projection Tab

If the Input Image does not have projection information associated with it, this section will allow you to specify the projection information. Select the **Coordinate System**, **Horizontal Datum** and **Zone** from the available lists. If you will be using a Zone file to specify the projection, or if the projection cannot be specified, check the box labeled **Use Zone File or Undefined Projection**.

Extract Projection G	xtract Projection Georeference				
Edit Projection Sett	ings				
Method:	5) C International				
Parameters					
Coordinate System:	State Plane 1927 🗾 💌				
Horizontal Datum:	NAD 1927 🗾				
Zone:	Oregon North				
	[-6				
Use zone file or und	ierinea projection				

Georeference Tab

This tab allows you to edit or override the Georeference information associated with the Input Image. To activate this feature, you must check the box labeled **Edit** / **override georeference information**. You may then enter the upper left pixel coordinates and the pixel dimensions in meters.

Extra	ct Projection	Georeference	e			
Edit / override georeference information Add New Point Remove Point		Upper-Left Cell Position X: 389438.07206679€ Cell dimensions in meters: width:	Y: 103496.23137640! Height: 1.0116608343			
Geo	preference Poin	its				Preview
ID	Column	Row	X	Y	Error (pixels)	
1	459.4	283.9	389892.9	103214.5	6.4	
2	867.9	445.3	390306.4	103041.3	5.4	
3	1019.2	1413.8	390462.2	102067.7	2.0	
4	105.3	719.3	389551.5	102765.9	3.1	
5						
6						
	-					

This tab is also used to scale and rotate a reference map to properly overlay onto the input image and then save the information to a SOLO image file. To do this, make sure the **Processing Mode** is set to **Transform** and the **Cursor Selection Mode** is set to **Control Points**.

Align the crosshairs in each image to the same point and click the **Add New Point** button. Continue adding at least two more points. Try to use points that are far from each other and not on the same line.

Once the points are added, click **Generate Output Image** to open the Confirm Operation Settings dialog box. Select the lower radio button and tap **OK** to save the file.

Confirm Operation Settings						
S	What do you want to do?					
Ť	 Copy / Extract input image into Solo Image File Transform input image according to control points into Solo Image File 					
	You selected the following map projection settings:					
	Coordinate System: Horizontal Datum: Zone: Hemisphere:	State Plane 1927 NAD 1927 Oregon North Northern				
	ОК	Cancel				

Image Preview

This section of the dialog box displays the Input Image. When the Input Image is first selected, the entire image is displayed with a red border. The red border represents the Extract Region of the image (the region of the Input Image that will be included when the Output Image is generated).

You may use the Toolbar at the top of the Image Preview region to zoom and pan the display of the image. You may also pan the image by clicking and dragging with your mouse.

You may change the Extract Region of the Input Image in two ways:

- Moving the red border that defines the Extract Region within the Image Preview. As you
 move your mouse over the red border, the mouse icon will change from the "pan" mode to
 the "drag" mode, indicated by direction arrows. Click and hold to drag one of the four
 borderlines.
- Typing new values into the Extract Region fields. When you edit a value (such as Starting Line), SOLO Office will automatically move the red border to the appropriate position in the Image Preview and adjust the Output Image Size field.

To modify the quality of the input image, select **Output Image Quality** and select between High, Medium and Low quality.

When you are satisfied with the Extract Region, Georeference data and Projection Settings, click on the **Generate Output Image** button. A standard Windows **Save As** dialog box will be displayed.

Prepare > Print Layout

When you select **Prepare > Print Layout**, the **Layout Setup** dialog box will be displayed which will allow you to select a printer, paper size, page orientation, etc. Once the dialog box is filled in as desired, click **OK** to send the document to the selected printer.

The Edit Menu

This section of the manual will discuss the different ways in which you may edit collected data, and data contained within your certain types of basemaps.

Edit > Stylus Use

Tapping this option will display a second menu that allows you to select from the available stylus use options:

Manual X,Y

This option allows you to select a location within the Map View using the stylus. SOLO Office - Forest Edition will automatically calculate the X and Y coordinate values of the selected point.

Basemap Feature

This option allows you to select a feature in the active layer of the basemap. Tapping on the feature with the stylus will pop up a label for that feature, and also allow you to access the associated database.

Whole Feature

This option allows you to select an entire feature by tapping anywhere on the feature, including a node.

Delete Multiple Points

This option allows you to select multiple points on the UDF layer using the stylus and then delete the selected points by tapping **Edit** > **Delete**. If you select a point inadvertently, simply tap it again to unselect it. When this stylus option is selected, some menu options will be disabled to prevent deleting data inadvertently.

Logged Data

This option allows you to select previously logged data or waypoints with the stylus. Tapping twice on the desired feature will call the **Logged Data Info** screen that displays the coordinate, feature and attribute information for that feature.

Freehand Redlining

This option allows you to add redlining and notes to a "CAD" layer in the Map View. The redlining function is discussed in more detail in the Redlining section of this manual.

Feature Editing

This option allows you to edit the position of basemap features in the active basemap layer. The feature editing function is discussed in more detail later in this manual.

Each of these stylus use options can also be accessed through the buttons displayed in the Mode Toolbar.

Edit > Delete

You may use the **Edit** > **Delete** menu option to delete points, features and redlining objects from the current project. Points, features and objects that are deleted will be permanently removed from the project.

DELETED POINTS AND OBJECTS CANNOT BE RECOVERED!

- 1. Make sure that the stylus use is set to logged data by selecting **Edit** > **Stylus Use** > **Logged Data** or by tapping the **Stylus Logged Data** button in the Mode Toolbar.
- 2. Highlight the point, feature or redlining object that you wish to delete by tapping on it in the Map View. To highlight a single node in a Line or Area feature, tap directly on the node. To highlight the entire Line or Area feature, tap on the line joining the nodes together. To highlight a redlining object, tap anywhere on the object.
- 3. Select **Edit** > **Delete**. You will be prompted to confirm the deletion. Upon confirmation, the selected point > feature will be deleted from the project

You may also delete points using the method below:

- 1. Make sure that the stylus use is set to logged data by selecting **Edit** > **Stylus Use** > **Logged Data** or by tapping the **Stylus Logged Data** button on the Mode Toolbar.
- Select the point you wish to delete by double tapping on it in the Map View or by selecting Edit > Logged Points and then double-tapping the point from the list in the Logged Items screen. The Logged Data Info screen will then be displayed.
- 3. Tap on the **Delete** button to remove the point from the current project.
- 4. You will be prompted to confirm that you wish to delete the point. Tap the **Yes** button to confirm the deletion and return to the Map View.

Edit > Move

This function allows you to change the location of a logged point or an ESRI Shapefile basemap feature. There are several methods available for moving a point or basemap feature, each of which is detailed below.

Moving a Point with GPS

- 1. Make sure that you are in GPS logging mode by tapping on the Log GPS button in the Mode Toolbar, or by selecting Log > Log With > GPS.
- 2. Make sure that your stylus in is logged data mode by tapping on the **Stylus Logged Data** button in the Mode Toolbar, or by selecting **Edit > Stylus Use > Logged Data**.
- 3. Select the point that you wish to move by tapping on it in the Map View. The point will be highlighted.
- 4. Occupy the new position where you want the point to be located and select **Edit** > **Move**. The **Select Point to Relocate** screen will be displayed.
- 5. A list of all the logged points from the current project is displayed. The point that you selected will be highlighted. If you wish to select a different point, you may double tap on a new point from the list. Otherwise, tap the **OK** button. The **Relocate Point** screen will then be displayed.

- 6. You will be required to collect the minimum number of GPS epochs established in the **Signal Settings** screen (Page 20). When the minimum number of epochs has been collected, tap the **OK** button to move the point. The existing point will be given the coordinates of your current location.
- 7. You can restart the averaging of your current GPS position by tapping on the Delete button.

Moving a Point Using the Touch Screen

- 1. Make sure that you are in Logged Data mode by tapping on the **Stylus Logged Data** button in the Mode Toolbar, or by selecting **Edit** > **Stylus Use** > **Logged Data**.
- 2. Make sure that you are in Manual logging mode by tapping on the **Log Manual** button on the Mode Toolbar or by selecting **Log** > **Log With** > **Manual**.
- 3. Select the point that you wish to move by tapping on it in the Map View. The point will be highlighted.
- 4. Switch to Manual stylus mode by tapping on the **Stylus Manual X,Y** button in the Mode Toolbar, or by selecting **Edit > Stylus Use > Manual**.
- 5. Tap on the Map View where you want the selected point to be located and then select **Edit** > **Move**. The **Select Point to Relocate** screen will be displayed.
- A list of all the logged points from the current project is displayed. The point that you selected will be highlighted. If you wish to select a different point, you may double tap on a new point from the list. Otherwise, tap the OK button. The Relocate Point Manual screen will then be displayed.
- 7. The coordinates of the new location selected with the stylus in the Map View will be displayed in this screen. If the coordinates are satisfactory, tap the **OK** button to move the point. The existing point will be given the coordinates of your current location.

Moving a Point by Typing in new Coordinates

- 1. Make sure that the stylus use is set to logged data by selecting **Edit** > **Stylus Use** > **Logged Data** or by tapping the **Stylus Logged Data** button on the Mode Toolbar.
- Select the point whose location you wish to move by double-tapping on it in the Map View or by selecting Edit > Logged Points and then selecting it from the list in the Logged Items screen. The Logged Data Info screen will be displayed.
- 3. Tap on the Edit button to display the Edit Point Location screen.
- 4. Enter the new coordinates and the elevation by highlighting the desired fields and typing in the new values.
- 5. When you are satisfied with the entered data, tap on the **OK** button to accept the changes. You will be prompted that the changes will be made and returned to the **Logged Data Info** screen.
- 6. Tap the **OK** button to return to the Map View.

Moving a Basemap Point using GPS

- 1. Make sure that you are in GPS logging mode by tapping on the Log GPS button in the Mode Toolbar, or by selecting Log > Log With > GPS.
- Make sure that your stylus in is basemap mode by tapping on the Stylus Basemap Feature button in the Mode Toolbar, or by selecting Edit > Stylus Use > Basemap Feature.
- 3. Select the basemap point that you wish to move by tapping on it in the Map View. The selected feature will be highlighted. For line or area features, the closest node to the selection point will also be highlighted.
- 4. Occupy the new position where you want the point to be located and select **Edit** > **Move**. The **Select Destination Location** screen will be displayed.
- 5. Select the GPS page by tapping on the GPS label, if it is not currently displayed. Your current GPS position will be displayed on this page.
- You will be required to collect the minimum number of GPS epochs established in the Settings > Signal screen (Page 20). You may discard any collected epochs and start the averaging process over by tapping on the Delete button in the GPS position window.
- 7. When the minimum number of epochs has been collected and you are satisfied with the position, tap the **OK** button. The **Move Basemap Point** screen will be displayed.
- 8. Select the radio button labeled "move selected point" to move only the highlighted node of a line or area feature.
- 9. Select the radio button labeled "Shift entire feature" to move the entire line or area feature, with the highlighted node being placed at the new location.
- 10. You may also choose to move co-incident basemap points that are in the same layer. For example, if you select to move a corner point for a parcel, you may also move the same corner point for the adjacent parcel by checking this box. All basemap points within the specified search radius will be moved to the new location.
- 11. Tap the **Move** button to move the basemap point or feature. You will be prompted to confirm the change in location.

Note: In order to change the location of a Shapefile feature, the .SHX file for that basemap layer must be located in the same folder on your data collector as the Shapefile.

Moving a Basemap Point Using the Touch Screen

- 1. Make sure that you are in Basemap mode by tapping on the **Stylus Basemap Feature** button in the Mode Toolbar, or by selecting **Edit > Stylus Use > Basemap Feature**.
- 2. Select the basemap point that you wish to move by tapping on it in the Map View. The selected feature will be highlighted. For line or area features, the closest node to the selection point will also be highlighted.
- 3. Select Edit > Move. The Select Destination Location screen will be displayed.
- 4. Select the Map page by tapping on the Map label, if it is not currently displayed. Your current project Map View will be displayed on this page.

- 5. Make sure that you are in Manual stylus mode by tapping on the **Menu** button and selecting **Stylus Use > Manual X,Y**.
- 6. Select the location to which you wish to move the basemap point by tapping on the Map View, and then tap the **OK** button.
- 7. The **Move Basemap Point** screen will be displayed. Tap the **Move** button to move the basemap point and return to the Map View.

Moving a Basemap Point by Typing in new Coordinates

- 1. Make sure that you are in Basemap mode by tapping on the **Stylus Basemap Feature** button in the Mode Toolbar, or by selecting **Edit > Stylus Use > Basemap Feature**.
- 2. Select the basemap point that you wish to move by tapping on it in the Map View. The selected feature will be highlighted. For line or area features, the closest node to the selection point will also be highlighted.
- 3. Select Edit > Move. The Select Destination Location screen will be displayed.
- 4. Select the Location page by tapping on the **Location** label, if it is not currently displayed.
- 5. Enter the new location for the basemap point, in the projection for your current project, and then tap the **OK** button.
- 6. The **Move Basemap Point** screen will be displayed. Tap the **Move** button to move the basemap point and return to the Map View.

Moving a Basemap Point to an Existing Point

The **Edit** > **Move** function will allow you to move a basemap point to the location of an existing point. The existing point can be a logged data point, a waypoint or another basemap point.

- 1. Make sure that you are in Basemap mode by tapping on the **Stylus Basemap Feature** button in the Mode Toolbar, or by selecting **Edit > Stylus Use > Basemap Feature**.
- 2. Select the basemap point that you wish to move by tapping on it in the Map View. The selected feature will be highlighted. For line or area features, the closest node to the selection point will also be highlighted.
- 3. Select Edit > Move. The Select Destination Location screen will be displayed.
- 4. To move the basemap point to the location of another basemap point in the same layer, select the **Map** page by tapping on the Map label.
- 5. Make sure that you are in basemap feature stylus mode by tapping on the **Menu** button and selecting **Stylus Use** > **Basemap Feature**.
- 6. Select the basemap point to which you wish to move the selected basemap point by tapping on the Map View, then tap the **OK** button.
- 7. To move the basemap point to the location of a logged data point, select the **Point** page by tapping on the Point label.
- 8. Select the logged data point to which you wish to move the basemap point by doubletapping it.

- Alternatively, you may select the logged data point in the Map page by tapping the Menu button, selecting Stylus Use > Logged Data and then tapping once on the desired point in the Map View.
- 10. To move the basemap point to the location of a waypoint, select the **WayPoint** page by tapping on the WayPoint label.
- 11. Select the Waypoint to which you wish to move the basemap point by double-tapping it.
- 12. Alternatively, you may select the Waypoint in the Map page by tapping the Menu button, selecting Stylus Use > Logged Data and then tapping once on the desired Waypoint in the Map View.
- 13. The **Move Basemap Point** screen will be displayed as described earlier. Tap the **Move** button to move the basemap point and return to the Map View.

Moving a Basemap Point using the Stylus

You may also move a basemap point using the stylus when you are in Feature Edit mode.

- 1. Make sure that you are in Basemap Edit mode by tapping on the **Stylus Basemap Edit** button in the Mode Toolbar, or by selecting **Edit > Stylus Use > Feature Editing**.
- 2. Select the basemap point that you wish to move by tapping on it in the Map View. The selected feature will be highlighted. For line or area features, all of the nodes in the feature will be displayed and the closest node to the selection point will be highlighted with a large circle.
- 3. Tap and hold on the highlighted node, then drag the stylus to the new location. As you drag the stylus, a line will be displayed connecting the current stylus position to the previous node location.
- 4. When your stylus is at the desired location, lift the stylus. The basemap feature, or node, will be moved to the location.

Edit > Copy to UDF Feature

This function allows you to create a feature from a basemap feature or CAD object within your project. CAD objects are created through the Redlining function (Page **Error! Bookmark not defined.**), the GPS Track function (Page **Error! Bookmark not defined.**) and the Line Offset function (Page 68).

Copy a CAD object to a UDF feature

- Make sure you are in Logged Data mode by tapping on the Stylus Logged Data button in the Mode Toolbar, or by selecting Edit > Stylus Use > Logged Data.
- 2. Select the CAD object that you wish to copy into a feature by tapping on it in the Map View. The selected object will be highlighted.
- 3. Select Edit > Copy to UDF Feature. The Edit Object screen will be displayed.

- The Edit Object screen will display a preview of the new feature, as it will be created in your project, with the number of nodes that are present in the original CAD object being displayed.
- 5. Use the slider bar to reduce the number of nodes in the feature. The further to the right that you move the bar, the more nodes will be removed.
- 6. In the example to the right, removing all but the beginning and ending nodes form a straight line.
- 7. Once you are satisfied with the look of the feature, tap on the **OK** button. The **Select Feature to Log** screen will be displayed.
- 8. Select the feature and enter any attribute information. Tap on the **OK** button to create the new feature.

Copy a basemap feature to a UDF feature

- 1. Make sure you are in Basemap mode by tapping on the **Stylus Basemap Feature** button in the Mode Toolbar, or by selecting **Edit > Stylus Use > Basemap Feature.**
- 2. Select the basemap feature that you wish to copy into a UDF feature by tapping on it in the Map View. The selected object will be highlighted.
- 3. For a line or area basemap feature, you will be prompted with the number of data points that will be converted. Tap on the **Yes** button to continue.
- 4. You will be asked if you would like to specify the Feature type. If you select **Yes**, the attributes currently associated with the basemap feature will be discarded and you will select a feature from the Feature file and enter the attribute data for that feature type.
- 5. If you select **No**, then a new feature will be created in your project. The feature name will be the file name of the basemap layer and the attributes will be the attributes of the basemap feature.

Note: The newly created feature will not be added to the Feature file, but it will be stored in the UDF project file.

Edit > Line Editing > Reverse Line

This function allows you to reverse the order of the points collected as part of a Line or Area feature.

- Make sure you are in Logged Data mode by tapping on the Stylus Logged Data button in the Mode Toolbar, or by selecting Edit > Stylus Use > Logged Data.
- 2. Select the Line or Area feature that you wish to reverse by tapping on it in the Map View. The selected feature will be highlighted
- 3. Select **Edit** > **Functions** > **Reverse Line**. The sequence of the points making up the line or area feature will be reversed.

Edit > Line Editing > Line Offset

This function allows you to create a duplicate of a line or area feature at a specified distance from the original line or area feature. The duplicate will be created as a CAD object.

- 1. Select the line or area feature that you wish to offset by tapping on it once in the Map View. The selected feature will be highlighted.
- 2. Select Edit > Functions > Line Offset. The Line Offset screen will be displayed.
- 3. There are three offset options available: Left, Right or Both. Select the option you wish to use by tapping the appropriate radio button.
- 4. Enter the offset distance in the Offset Distance field.
- 5. Tap **OK** to create the duplicate, offset by the specified distance from the original Line or Area feature and return to the Map View.

Edit > Logged Data > Logged Points...

This option allows you to view the details for any logged point in the current project.

When you select **Edit** > **Logged Points**, a list of all of the logged points are displayed in the **Logged Items** screen. Each logged point is displayed individually.

You may sort the display of the logged points by tapping on the column labels.

Double tap on the desired point to display the information related to that point in the **Logged Data Info** screen.

The **Logged Data Info** screen lets you edit the feature and location information for the point, reorder the point within a Line or Area feature, or delete the point.

You can also access the **Logged Data Info** screen by double tapping the desired point in the Map View.

Edit > Logged Data > Logged Features...

When this option is selected, the logged features from the current project are displayed in the **Logged Items** screen. The points associated with a Line or Area feature are not displayed individually.

If a particular feature consists of multiple points, only the last point logged for that feature is initially shown. You may sort the display of the logged points by tapping on the column labels.

Double tap on the desired feature to display the information related to that feature in the **Logged Data Info** screen, as described above.

The View Menu

The options available from the **View** menu allow you to view the details of selected points or features, and let you customize what is shown in the Map View. Each option is explained below.

View > Zoom Everything

Tapping this option, or the 🖽 button, will scale the Map View so all the points, waypoints, basemap features, raster images and redlining will be visible.

View > Zoom Logged Data

Tapping this option, or the 🖻 button, will scale the Map View so that all logged data points, waypoints and redlining will be visible.

View > Zoom to Active Layer

Tapping this option, or the 🛃 button, will scale the Map View so that the entire active basemap layer is displayed.

View > Zoom To Current Location

Tapping this option will pan the Map View so your current position will be in the center. This option does not affect the scale of the Map View display.

View > More Zoom Selections

This submenu contains more zoom options.

View > More Zoom Selections > Window

Tapping this option, or the 🖾 button, allows you to zoom to a box that you draw in the Map View using the your stylus.

- First select View > Zoom > Window, or tap the Q button.
- Drag a box around the desired area in the Map View.
- Once the stylus is lifted from the screen, the Map View will zoom in on the area defined by the drawn box.

View > More Zoom Selections > Zoom In

Tapping this option, or the 🔣 button, will zoom in on the Map View by approximately 30%.

View > More Zoom Selections > Zoom Out

Tapping this option, or the 🔝 button, will zoom out on the Map View by approximately 30%.

View > More Zoom Selections > Previous

Tapping this option, or the button, will revert the Map View to the previous scale and location display.

View > More Zoom Selections > To Point

Tapping this option or the solution will open the Zoom To Point screen. This screen displays all the logged points and waypoints in the current project. Double tap on any point and the Map View will pan so the selected point will be positioned in the center. This option does not affect the scale of the Map View display. In this screen you may also type in the coordinates that you wish to pan to.

Tip: You can pan around in the Map View by dragging the stylus across it.

View > More Zoom Selections > To Images

Tapping this option will scale the Map View so that the entire active raster image is displayed.

View > More Zoom Selections > Image Scale 1:1

Tapping this option will adjust the Map View so that the active raster image is centered in the display, but does not change the current scale of the display.

View > More Zoom Selections > Saved Views

Tapping this option, or the 🔛 button, will display the **Saved Map Views** screen. This screen allows you to select a previously saved Map View, or to save the current Map View for later recall.

View > More Zoom Selections > Refresh

Tapping this option or the 🔟 button will refresh the Map View, and remove any irregularities in the display that can come from panning.

View > Map Layers

Map Layers 🛛 🔀					
Þ	<i>4</i> 6 6 8	ຯ 🔅	* 🛠	Y B (2)	? 👔 🕴
Ē	Name	🔚 Loaded	🖓 Туре	Active	🚱 Theme
	Name Sample.UDF Redlining Map Grid Cor1.sif Cor2.sif Tds.dxf HYDRANT.SHP parcel0.shp parcel.shp Parks.shp Water.shp Clpolyin.shp Ugbpoly.shp	E Loaded		Active	Theme
	Oregon.mif		2		

Tapping this option will display the **Basemap Layer Control** screen.

There are several buttons on this screen that are used to perform various tasks. From this screen you can load or unload basemap layers and images, change basemap viewing options, change basemap labeling options, etc. For ease of discussion, this manual will first address the process for displaying basemaps and the associated options, and then discuss the process for displaying images and the associated options.

Displaying a Basemap

SOLO Office - Forest Edition provides the capability for you to display basemaps from Map View, ESRI Shapefiles, MapInfo MIF files, AutoCAD DXF files, Microstation DGN files, SOLO Waypoint, or SOLO UDF files. You will also have access to the database information associated with the basemap files and, in the case of ESRI Shapefiles, the ability to edit the database and location of the basemap features.

Note: In order to access the database information for ESRI Shapefiles, the .DBF and the .SHX files corresponding to the Shapefile must be located in the same folder as the Shapefile in your data collector and must not be read-only.

Note: In order to access the database information for MapInfo MIF files, the .MID file corresponding to the MIF file must be located in the same folder as the MIF file on your data collector.

Note: The **Basemap Layer Control** screen also allows you to load and display raster images. This procedure is discussed below.

The Basemap Layer Control Screen

The **Basemap Layer Control** screen displays the basemap layers that are currently assigned to your project.

In this screen you can add and remove layers, turn on/off the layers displayed in the Map View, set the order of display and adjust the properties of the layers.

Tapping on the **Help** button ? will display the **Basemap Layer Help** screen, indexing the functions associated with the various buttons in the **Basemap Layer Control** screen.

Basemap Options File

Tap **Save** \ge > **Load** if you want to use a basemap option file to load a previously created set of options. The **Basemap Option File** screen will be displayed.

Basemap Options File					
Options File					
Type:	Type: Basemap Config (*.bmc)				
Sample.BMC					
Load Save As Clear					
L					

From here you can load an existing Basemap Option File, save a new file or clear the current file.

Basemap Properties

You can edit the general properties of all your viewable layers by tapping on the **All Layers Properties** <u>screen</u> will be displayed.
Basemap Properties						
Info	Info Database Options Advanced					
Basemap Summary Information						
	Total Layers	10				
	Layers Loaded	9				
	Features Loaded	5832				
	Points Loaded	77840				
	Memory use (approx)	2194	KBytes			
				OK Cancel		

The Basemap Properties Screen

There are four pages available in the **Basemap Properties** screen.

The **Info** page provides a summary of the basemap layers that are loaded, including the number of features and points that are loaded, and an approximation of how much memory is being used to load and display the layers.

The **Database** page lets you load a listing of all the basemap layers on your data collector. This list can then be used to rapidly add basemap files to your project.

Info Database Options Advanced						
Records not loaded. Load	Options Browse					
Delete, Add to List,	 ✓ Create Previews ✓ Set Coord Sys 					
Set Units Set Coord Sys	Units: Meters					

The list is loaded by referencing the .BLI file that is created when a basemap layer is loaded in SOLO Forest. If you transferred files from SOLO Office using a .SPF file, the .BLI files will have been transferred as well.

Tap the **Options** button to set filters for the .BLI files that will be loaded. The **Options** screen will be displayed.

Options		
Use Filter Filter View C Any C Intersect C Endose Coordinate System C Any C Any C Current C Not Set	Current List All C Not In C Is In	Layer Find Options Auto Find Size Match Search Folders
		OK Cancel

Check the box labeled **Use Filter** to apply the filters in this screen. You can filter the .BLI search based on three criteria; **View**, **Current List** and **Coordinate System**.

View

Select **Any** to load all basemap layers. Select **Intersect** to load only those layers that intersect the current Map View extents. Select **Enclose** to load only those layers that are completely contained within the current Map View extents.

Current List

Select **All** to load all basemap layers. Select **Not In** to load only those basemap layers that are not in the current list displayed in the **Basemap Layer Control** screen. Select **Is In** to load only those basemap layers that are currently displayed in the list.

Coordinate System

Select **Any** to load all basemap layers. Select **Current** to load only those basemap layers that use the same coordinate system as the current project. Select **Not Set** to load only those basemap layers that have no set coordinate system.

You can let SOLO Office - Forest Edition search the entire contents of your data collector and automatically find basemap files by checking the box labeled **Auto Find**. Checking the **Size Match** box will search for only those basemap layers that are roughly the same size as the currently listed basemap files.

To set specific folders that you wish SOLO Office - Forest Edition to search, tap on the **Search Folders** button. The **Folder List** screen will be displayed.

Tap on the **Add** button to add a new folder to the search. Tap on the **Remove** button to remove the highlighted folder from the search.

Check the box labeled **Include Sub-Folders** to include any sub-folders of the selected folders in the search.

Tap the **OK** button to return to the **Options** screen.

Once all of the search filter options have been set, tap the **OK** button to return to the **Database** page.

Tap the **Browse** button to display a preview of the loaded basemap layers. The **Basemap** Layer Database Browser screen will be displayed.

A preview of each loaded basemap layer will be displayed in the left side of this screen. Tap the arrow keys below the preview to toggle through the loaded layers. The coordinate system for the current layer will be displayed in the upper right corner.

To find the path to the current layer, tap the **Find** button (if **Auto Find** has been checked in the **Options** screen, this step is not necessary).

To add a layer to the list of layers in the **Basemap Layer Control** screen, tap the **Add** button.

If the coordinate system and units information is not correct for this layer, you may delete the .BLI file where this data is stored by tapping the **Delete** button.

Tap Cancel to return to the Database page.

Tap the **Delete** button to delete the .BLI files for all of the loaded layers (the layers themselves will not be deleted).

Tap the **Set Units** button to set the units for all of the loaded layers.

Tap the **Add to List** button to add all of the loaded layers to the list of basemap layers displayed in the **Basemap Layer Control** screen.

Tap the **Set Coord Sys** button to set the coordinate system for all the loaded layers. If you check the box labeled **Create Previews**, a preview for each layer will be created automatically when the layer is loaded.

If you check the box labeled **Set Coord Sys**, each layer will be set to the coordinate system of the current project as it is loaded. The units specified in the **Units** field will be used.

The **Options** page lets you set the color that will be used to highlight selected basemap features in the Map View.



Select the Font Size for the basemap feature pop-up label from the provided list.

You can also choose to display the area and length of area features, or the length of line features, in the pop-up label by checking the appropriate boxes.

Check the **Zoom to Feature on Tap** box to automatically zoom in on a selected basemap feature.

Tap on the **Set All Layer Defaults** button to return the settings for every loaded layer to the default settings.

The **Advanced** page lets you set the rate at which the basemap display will be updated while zooming or panning. A faster setting will require more memory use.

Basemap Properties	X				
Info Database Options Advanced					
✓ Progressively update basemap while drawing					
Progressive Update Interval	Show Basemap				
frequent infrequent	🔽 navigate map				
	🔽 log interval map				
Defaults					
	OK Cancel				

You can also specify if you would like to have the basemap displayed during the navigation routines and when logging by interval.

Tapping the **Defaults** button will return the settings to the default configuration show in the image to the left.

Removing Layers

To remove a layer from the list, highlight the layer and then tap the **Remove Layer** \ge button. A prompt will appear to ensure your selection.

You can also remove all layers by Tapping on the **Remove All Layers** B button.

Viewing Layers

To make a layer viewable on the map, select the checkbox to the left of the layer name. Deselecting the checkbox will make the layer invisible.

You can make all layers visible by selecting the 🖻 button.

Layer Display Order

You can change the order in which the basemap layers will be displayed using the up and down arrow buttons. Highlight the layer whose order of display you wish to change, and then tap on the up or down arrow 🕥 🔍 buttons to move the layer up or down the list. Layers at the top of the list will be displayed on top of layers at the bottom of the list.

Adding a New Layer

Tap on the **Add New Layer** button to display the **Basemap Layer File** screen. Here you can specify which .SHP, .MIF, .DXF, .DGN or .UDF file you wish to load and display as part of your basemap display. If the selected file has been used as a basemap layer before, it will be added to the list on the main screen of the **Basemap Layer Control** screen. You may repeat this process as necessary to select all of the desired basemap layers.

If the selected file has not been used before, you will need to verify the zone settings for the file. The **Layer Properties** screen will be displayed.

Layer Properties - Water.shp			×	
Info Preview Display Zoom	Attributes Zone			
Coordinate System Settings				
Project U.S.A. (NGS), State Pla zone: Oregon North	ine 1927, NAD 1927,			
Layer U.S.A. (NGS), State Pla zone: Oregon North	ine 1927, NAD 1927,	🗍 Decimal La	t-Lon	
Set Layer to Project Zone for	te: You are not required reference only. No coo	to set the layer zone ord system conversion	e. This is in is done.	
Distance units: Feet(US) Conversion factor to internal meters:				
		ОК	Cancel	

If you select a .SHP file where an .APM file of the same name also exists in the same folder, both files will be opened simultaneously.

You can invert the selection of layers to be displayed by tapping the is button.

Project Zone

This field lists the zone settings for the current project.

Layer Zone

This field lists the zone settings assigned to the basemap layer. This field will read "No Zone Set" the first time a layer is used. If the **Project Zone** and the **Layer Zone** fields do not match, a warning will be displayed.

Tap the **Set Layer to Project Zone** button to assign the current project zone to the basemap layer file. This zone information will be stored in the .BLI file.

Units

Verify the units for the basemap layer by selecting the proper units from the list.

Note: You are not required to set the layer zone. This setting is for reference only, and no coordinate system conversions are performed. However, it is important that the zone settings of the basemap layer and the project are the same in order for the basemap layer to be used effectively.

Load Basemap Layer

Each basemap layer must be loaded into SOLO Office - Forest Edition before it can be displayed. Layers selected for display will be loaded automatically when you exit the **Basemap** Layer Control screen.

If you wish to configure the individual properties of the basemap layers, you may want to load the layers individually. Highlight each layer individually and tap the **Load** > **Unload Layer to** > **from Memory** B button to load the layer into SOLO Office. Tap the button again to unload the layer.

Layer Display Options

Once a basemap layer has been loaded, you may configure several display options for that layer. Highlight the desired layer and tap the Layer Properties... button in the Basemap Layer Control screen to display the Layer Properties screen box. The settings available on each of the pages in the Layer Properties screen are discussed below.

Zoom to Layer 💁

Tap this button to zoom the Map View to display the extents of the highlighted layer.

The Layer Properties Screen

The Layer Properties screen contains six pages of information and display options. Tapping on the label for each page will display that page.

Layer Properties: Info

The **Info** page provides detailed information about the basemap layer, including the name, location, size, number of points and number of features.

Information in the **Info** page cannot be edited, and is for reference only.

Layer Pr	operti	es - parcel	0.shp				×
Info	Preview	Options	Zoom	Attributes	Zone		
Folder Name File Da File Siz File Tyj	te 12 e 41 pe Po	:\Documen parcel0.shp :/03/2001 1 :0 KB olygon Shap	ts and Se 9:31 efile	ettings\Kevin'	Displayed Active Loaded Points Features Features not loaded	Yes No Yes 21174 1450 0	
						OK	Cancel

Layer Properties: Preview

The **Preview** page provides a thumbnail preview of how the basemap layer will be displayed in the Map View.



The preview will be displayed in black and white.

If no preview exists for the layer, you can create on by tapping on the **Create Preview** button. If you wish to delete the preview, you can tap on the **Clear Preview** button.

Layer Properties: Display

The **Display** page allows you to configure the display characteristics of the layer.

Layer Prope	rties - parcel0.sh	р	×
Info Pre	view Options Zoo	om 🛛 Attributes 🗍 Zone 🗍	
Override		Label Size	Area Fill
Colo	r	Oefault	C Allow
	vidth 1	Text Feature Size	C Force
🗆 Syml		© Default	Set Defaults
Size	6 💌	C M	
			OK Cancel

Color

Tap this button to display a color palette. The selected color will be used for all features on the layer if you have selected a .SHP, .DXF, .DGN or .UDF file.

For .MIF files, all features with an unspecified color will use the selected color. You may also override the specified colors in a MIF file by checking the **Override** box.

Linewidth

Select a linewidth for line and area features from the list. The selected linewidth will be used for all line and area features on the layer if you have selected an .SHP, .DXF, .DGN or .UDF file.

For MIF files, all features with an unspecified linewidth will use the selected linewidth. You may also override the specified linewidth in a MIF file by checking the **Override** box.

Symbol

Tap this button to display a symbol palette. The selected symbol will be used for all point features in the layer if you have selected an .SHP, .DXF, .DGN or .UDF file.

For MIF files, all features with an unspecified symbol will use the selected symbol. You may also override the specified symbol for point features in a MIF file by checking the **Override** box.

Label Size

SOLO Office - Forest Edition will use a font scaled to the current Map View to display basemap feature labels. You may select a specific label font size by tapping the lower radio button and selecting the desired size from the list.

Text Feature Size

For MIF Text features, SOLO Office - Forest Edition will use a font scaled to the current Map View to display the feature. You may select a specific feature font size by tapping the lower radio button and selecting the size from the pull-down list.

Area Fill

The default setting is none, where all area (polygon) features will be displayed with no fill. You may choose to allow fill if the area feature has a fill assigned, or you may choose to force the area feature to fill. The fill will be solid, in the color selected for the layer.

Tap the **Set Defaults** button to return all the settings in the Options page back to the default settings.

Layer Properties: Zoom

The **Zoom** page allows you to set zoom ranges for the display of basemap layers and labels.

Layer Properties - parcel0.shp	×
Info Preview Options Zoom Attributes Zone	
Set the range of displayed map widths through which the map layer or the labels on it are displayed. Display Zoom Range	
Min: m Min: m	
Max: 0 m	
OK Cancel	

Set a minimum zoom range, a maximum zoom range or both. If the viewable width of the Map View is larger than the minimum and > or smaller than the maximum, the layer and > or label will be displayed.

Layer Properties: Attributes

The **Attributes** page allows you to configure the display characteristics of the attributes associated with the layer.



On Feature Select

When you tap on a basemap feature in the active layer you will have three available display options: highlight the feature only, highlight the feature and pop up the feature label or highlight the feature and show the full attribute list for the feature.

If you select the **Popup Label** option, select the layer attribute that you wish to display as the popup label from the list provided in the **Label with** field. You may also choose to display the full attribute list by tapping the popup label.

Labels

When you check the box for the **Label each feature on map** field, each feature in the layer will be labeled in the Map View, within the restrictions established in the **Zoom** page. You may also specify the label position (whether pop up or continuous), at either the first point of the feature or in the center of the feature.

Tap the **OK** button to return to the **Basemap Layer Control** screen.

Basemap Option File

At this point you may also save the current basemap configuration for reuse. Tap on the **Save** > Load Config File button in the **Basemap Layer Control** screen to display the **Basemap Option File** screen and then enter a name for the current configuration. Tap the **Save** button to save the configuration for later use.

The configuration can then be recalled for a future project by Tapping on the **Load** button in the **Basemap Option File** screen. You may also clear the selected basemap configuration file by Tapping on the **Clear** button.

Displaying a Raster Image

SOLO Office - Forest Edition provides the capability to display a raster image in the Map View in a TIF, JPG, JPEG 2000, DOQ or SIF file format.

To load and display a raster image, select **View > Basemap Options**. This will open the **Basemap Layer Control** screen.

Note: The **Basemap Layer Control** screen also allows you to load and display vector basemaps. This procedure is discussed in the previous section.

The **Basemap Layer Control** screen lets you select the layers of data that you wish to load and display, as well as controlling the properties of the basemap layers.

Selecting Images

Tap on the **Add a New Layer** button to display the **Basemap Layer File** screen. Here you will specify which image file you wish to load and display as part of your basemap. The selected file will be added to the list in the main view of the **Basemap Layer Control** screen. You may repeat this process as necessary to select multiple image files.

Image Projections

SOLO Office - Forest Edition will assume that the projection and distance units used by the image will match the current settings for your project. It is important that your project settings match the image for proper usage. You have the option of changing your project settings to match those of a selected image in the **Image Selection** screen, described below.

Once an image has been loaded, you may configure the display for that image and review the image properties. Highlight the desired layer and tap the **Layer Properties**... If button in the **Basemap Layer Control** screen to display the **Image Selection** screen. You may also access the **Image Selection** screen by double tapping on the desired image.

Image Selection Screen

The **Image Selection** screen displays the dimensions, the resolution and the projection information (if available) for the image.

mage Selection	×
C:\Documents and Settings\Kevin\My Documents\SOLO\Cor2.sif	Adjust
Image Properties Dimensions: 1787 Columns By 1826 Rows 24 Bits/oixel	Preview
Image Information and Coordinate System / Projection :	Set Display
Solo Image Format.	
Linear Units: Meters	ОК
Changing linear units will affect geographical location of image.	Cancel

You may adjust the contrast and brightness of a black and white image by tapping the **Adjust** button. The **Image Enhancements** screen will be displayed, which is described below.

Preview the display of the image by tapping the **Preview** button. The **Image Preview** screen will be displayed, which is described below.

You may also change the linear units of the image by selecting from the pull-down list in the **Linear Units** field. The default unit is Meters, and SOLO will assume that all images are referenced to meters unless this field is changed.

To set the projection settings of the current project to match those of the selected image, Tap on the **Set Display** button.

Tap the **OK** button to return to the **Basemap Layer Control** screen.

Image Preview Screen

You may preview the image by tapping the **Preview...** button in the **Image Selection** screen.

Zoom controls allow you to zoom the display in and out.

The arrow keys allow you to pan the display in 4 directions, or you may pan the display by dragging the image with your stylus.

Image Enhancements Screen

You may adjust the contrast and brightness of the image by tapping the **Adjust...** button in the **Image Selection** screen.

Adjust Brightness: Contrast: Auto-Linear Contrast Preview Image: Contrast Image: Contrast <	Image Enhancements	×
	Adjust	Preview III O O III O O III O O III O IIII O IIII O IIII O IIII O IIII O IIII O IIII O IIII O

You may check the box labeled **Auto-Linear Contrast**. SOLO Office - Forest Edition will then calculate the optimal contrast for your image.

When you are satisfied with the display, tap the **OK** button to apply the adjustment.

View > Set Active Layer

Selecting this option will display the **Active Layer Selection** screen. From this screen you can select the active basemap layer, change the attribute used for the pop-up label and select to use a fixed table or floating screen to display the basemap feature database.

Active Layer Selection	X
Active Layer	🔲 Use floating dialog for full attribute list
Layer Water.shp 💌 Attribute LENGTH 💌	Attribute List Dialog Size Number of lines to display in attribute list:
Select Active Layer from Map Object	Width in characters of attribute list (approx):

Only one basemap layer may serve as the 'Active' layer at any given time. The Active layer is indicated by 4 horizontal lines in the **Active** column of the **Basemap Layer Control** screen. To change the Active layer, select the **View** > **Active Layer** menu option, or tap the button in the Mode Toolbar.

Select the active layer from the provided list in the Layer field.

Select an attribute that will be used as the pop-up label for the feature in the Attribute field.

Checking the **Select Active Layer from Map Object** box will allow you to select the active layer when you tap on any map object in the Map View. This will let you jump from layer to layer without re-opening the screen.

You may also check the box labeled **Use floating screen for full attribute list**. When you tap on the pop-up label for the selected basemap feature, a floating screen will open that displays all of the attributes for the selected feature. If this box is not checked, a portion of the Map View will be dedicated to display the attribute information.

If you have chosen to use the floating screen, you may also configure the size of the floating screen by specifying the number of lines to display and the width of the lines in characters.

Tap the **OK** button to confirm your selections and return to the Map View.

View > Show Legend

When a basemap is loaded, this option will toggle on/off the display of a legend across the top of the map view with details about the current layer.

View > Display Options

This function allows you to toggle on and off, and to customize, various display options within SOLO Office - Forest Edition. When you select **View > Display Options**, the **Select View Options** screen will be displayed. There are three pages available in the **Select View Options** screen. Each of the options is described below. When an option is on, a check mark is displayed next to it.

Map Page



Waypoints

Check this box if you wish to display the waypoints selected for the current project in the Map View. Generated Grids are stored as Waypoint files, so you will need to check this box in order to display grid points.

Coordinate Box

Check this box if you want the coordinates of a selected Feature, Waypoint, basemap feature or manually selected location to be displayed in the coordinate box in the upper left corner of the Map View. This box will also display the coordinates of the last logged feature.

Active Layer Box

When checked, a small box will appear in the Map View showing the name of the active layer. (The active layer can be changed using the \equiv button on the Mode Toolbar or by selecting View > Set Active Layer...)

Map Label Size

This will adjust the label size in the Map View from 8 to 24.

Toolbars Page

Мар	Toolbars	Other
☐ Sta ☐ Lar ☐ Sa ☑ Zo ☑ Mo	atus Line rge Buttons tellite Sky Pl om Toolbar de Toolbar	ot Toolbar Buttons

Status Line

Check this box is you wish to display the Status Line at the bottom of the Map View.

Large Buttons

Check this box if you wish to display large shortcut buttons for **Log**, **Log Another** and either **Log Laser Offset** or **Navigate**, in the Map View.

Satellite Sky Plot

Check this box if you wish to display the satellite sky plot in the Map View.

Zoom Toolbar

Check this box if you wish to display the Zoom Toolbar.

Mode Toolbar

Check this box if you wish to display the Mode Toolbar.

Toolbar Buttons

To personalize the buttons displayed in the Forestry and Zoom Toolbars, Tap the **Toolbar Buttons** button. The **Select Toolbar Buttons** screen will be displayed.



Check the boxes for the Toolbar Buttons that you wish to display in the Toolbars.

Other Page

Map Toolbars Other						
Filter Settings						
Enable Hyperlinks on Feature Select						
Follow Current Location						
GPS Signal Voice Prompts						
Load Waypoints in Meters						

Feature Filter

Check this box if you wish to filter the display of logged features. Filters may be applied based upon feature type, feature name or by the time that a feature was logged.

To customize the filter, check **Feature Filter** and Tap on the **Filter Settings** button. The **Display Controls** screen will be displayed.

There are four pages available in the **Display Controls** screen. The **Point**, **Line** and **Area** pages display the names of those feature types that are currently stored in your project.

Uncheck the box labeled **Show Point** > **Line** > **Area Features** to disable the display of all features of that type.

Uncheck the box next to a particular feature name to disable the display of that feature.

Tap the **All Visible** button to check the box next to every feature listed.

Tap the Invert button to invert the selection of checked and unchecked boxes.

In the **Time** page you can specify a beginning and ending time, outside of which logged features will not be displayed. To display only those features logged within a specific time range, check the box labeled "Show only features logged within range" and specify the **From** and **To** times.

You can edit the individual components of the date and time displayed in these fields by tapping on them.

Tapping on the **Set to Earliest** button will set the **From** time to that of the earliest logged feature. Tapping on the **Set to Latest** button will set the **To** time to that of the last logged feature. Tapping on the pull-down button for either field will display a calendar from which you can select a date.

Tap **OK** to apply the selected filters.

Enable Hyperlinks on Feature Select

Check this box to turn on access to hyper-linked objects when selecting a logged feature in the Map View. When this box is checked, the object that was linked to the feature during data collection will be activated (image displayed, video clip played, etc.) when the feature is selected.

View > Feature Attributes...

This option allows you to view all logged features and their attribute information. When you select **View** > **Feature Attributes**, the **Feature Browser** dialog box will be displayed.



Select the feature type to be displayed from the drop down menu. All of the logged feature types in the current project will be listed.

To view a logged feature in the Map View, select the feature and click the Go To button.

To print the list of features displayed in the list view, click the **Print** button.

View > Find Feature

The **View** > **Find Feature** menu option lets you to search for features with specific attributes. You can to search both logged data and basemap features.

Selecting View > Find Feature will display the Find dialog box.

Find	X
Search:	arch Results
Search Feature(s): ALL FEATURES	ame ID
Search attribute(s): ALL ATTRIBUTES	Find
Text	Edit,
Find what:	
Number Range	View
From: 0 To: 0	Go To
	Close

Search Features

Select the feature that you would like to search for from a list of all the logged features and basemap layers. The default selection is ALL FEATURES.

Search Attributes

Select a specific attribute of the feature selected above. The default is ALL ATTRIBUTES. If ALL FEATURES is selected for the **Search Features** field, the **Search Attributes** field is not active.

Find What

For ALL ATTRIBUTES or for text or menu attributes, you can enter a text string into this field that will be used in the search.

Number Range

For numeric attributes, enter a search range into the From and To fields.

Click on the **Find** button to initiate the search. The search results will be displayed in the **Search Results** list box.

Find		×
Search:	Search Results	لر
Search Feature(s): Hyd	Name ID Hyd 15	- 40
Search attribute(s): AREA	Hyd 14	Find
Text Find what:	Hyd 19 Hyd 18	Edit,
Number Range		View
From: 0 To: 0		Go To
		Close

For logged features that match the search criteria, the Feature Name will be listed in the **Name** field and the Feature ID will be listed in the **ID** field. For basemap features, the basemap file name will be listed in the **Name** field and the feature ID will be listed in the **ID** field.

Edit

To edit a logged feature, highlight the feature in the Search Results list and click on the **Edit** button. The **Logged Data Info** dialog box will be displayed where you can edit the attributes or location of the feature. This function is not available for basemap features.

View

Clicking on the **View** button will display a Map View of the highlighted feature with all of the attributes displayed in a spreadsheet format. This function is available for both logged features and basemap features.

Go To

Clicking the **Go To** button will return you to the Map View with the selected feature centered and highlighted. This function is available for both logged features and basemap features.

The Log Menu

SOLO Office will allow you to log Point, Line or Area features, and to provide attribute data for these features. Features logged in SOLO Office will be tied to a location, or point. There are two ways in which points may be logged using SOLO Office: manually through the touch screen or by selecting a known location as defined by a previously logged point or a basemap feature.

In addition, you may also change the location of a previously logged point through the Log menu.

Log > Log a Point

When you select Log > Log a Point, or click on the **Log a Point** button in the Map View or the Forestry Toolbar, you will be using the manual log method. The procedure for logging a point at a known location is described below under **Log** > **Log at**.

Logging Points Manually through the Touch Screen

SOLO Office will allow you to use your mouse pointer to designate the location of new points. This function calculates the coordinate location of the point at which you click your mouse based upon the current scale of the Map View and the location of existing data. Therefore, it is recommended that your current project contains some previously logged data, or that a basemap or image is being displayed, before using this function.

- 1. Make sure that you are in Manual mode by clicking on the **Stylus Manual Position** button in the Mode Toolbar, or by selecting Edit > Stylus Use > Manual.
- Click once on the location in the Map View where you would like to place the new feature. A large X will be placed at the location. SOLO Office will calculate the coordinates of the location and display them for you in the upper left corner of the Map View if the Coordinate Box is toggled for display (View > Display Options).



- 3. Each time that you click once on the Map View, coordinates will be calculated for the location of the new point.
- Once you are satisfied with the location, click the Log a Point button or click Log > Log a Point.
- 5. You will be prompted to select a feature to log from the current Feature File. The **Select Feature To Log** dialog box will be displayed.

Select Feature	: To L	og		2
All Recent	: In I	Progress		
	Nam	e	Туре	
Choose from	} F	ence	Line	
all available features	• н	Hyd	Point	
reacares.	° F	ParkInfo	Point	
	• F	Pole	Point	
	L r	ect	Area	
	•	free	Point	
	° \	/iew	Point	
	,			
				OK Cancel

- The Select Feature To Log dialog box displays the available features in three different pages.
- All Page

This page lists all the available features from the Feature File, or in this case, from the built-in features when no Feature File is selected.

Recent Page

This page allows you to select from the features that were recently used, where the most recently used feature is at the top of the list. Finding features from this page can be easier than from the **All** page when you have many features available to choose from. Further, the attributes from the last logged feature of the same name will be carried over to the new feature if you select from the **Recent** page.

• In Progress Page

You should select features from this page when adding points to existing Line or Area features that are still in progress. When selecting features from this page, the original point name for that feature will be offered as the default name.

Note: The In Progress data logging functionality allows you to log multiple Line or Area features simultaneously.

7. Double-click on the desired feature from the desired page to select it. The **Manual Log** dialog box will be displayed.



- 8. Enter the attributes for the feature. Depending on the system setup, feature attributes are entered in the left side of this dialog box. If there are more attributes than can be displayed at one time, you may use the scroll bars to scroll through the entire list.
- 9. The **Manual Log** dialog box also displays the coordinates of the selected location in the format that was chosen in the **Settings** dialog box.

Once you have entered the attributes for the feature, click on the **Log Now** button to record the feature and return to the Map View.

Log > Log Another

Once a point has been logged, the **Log Another** button will become active in the Mode Toolbar and the **Log Another** option will become active in the **Log** menu.

This option is useful when you are logging multiple points that have the same characteristics because it skips the feature selection process and goes directly to the **Log** dialog box. You can also use this option to add more points to a line or area feature, skipping the **Select Feature to Log** dialog box.

Log > Log At

For many applications it can be useful to record new Features at a known location. For example, when logging street signs, there may be several signs on the same pole. Instead of logging a unique position for each sign, SOLO Office will let you log a single position and then use that position to mark the location of several features.

There are three ways that SOLO Office will let you record a new feature at a known location. All three methods are accessed through the Log > Log At ... menu option. When you select this menu option, the Select Point to Log At dialog box will be displayed.

Log at... > Point

The **Log at...** > **Point** option allows you to select a previously logged position from a list. The most recently logged feature will be displayed at the top of the list.

el	ect Point to	Log /	۹t				
oi	nt WayPo	int 🛛 M	1ap				
Na	me	ID	Feature	Туре			
	Hyd	17	Hyd	Point			
	Hyd	16	Hyd	Point			
	ParkInfo	15	ParkInfo	Point			
	Tree	14	Tree	Point			
	Tree	13	Tree	Point			
	Tree	12	Tree	Point			
	Tree	11	Tree	Point			
	Tree	10	Tree	Point			
	Tree	9	Tree	Point			
	Fence#1	6	Fence	Line			
	Fence#3	8	Fence	Line			
	Fence#2	7	Fence	Line			
1	ParkInfo	5	ParkInfo	Point			
	View	4	View	Point			
	Pole	3	Pole	Point			
	Pole	2	Pole	Point			
	Tree	1	Tree	Point			
Ż	P1	26	Water.shp	Line			
Ż	P2	27	Water.shp	Line			
Ş	P3	28	Water.shp	Line			
	P4	29	Water.shp	Line			
1	Fence#2	25	Fence	Line			
< <u> </u>	Eonco#1	22	Fondo	Line		 	
							ОК

You may sort the listed points by Name, ID, Feature or Type by clicking on the field labels.

Double-click the desired point, or highlight it and click on the **OK** button. The **Select Feature to Log** dialog box will then be displayed.

Log at... > Waypoint

The **Log at... > Waypoint** function allows you to select a waypoint from a list. The Waypoints are listed in the order in which the waypoint file was created.

You may sort the listed waypoints by Name clicking on the Name label.

e	ct Point to L	og At		
oin	t WayPoint	Map	1	
Na	ame	Visited	Latitude	Longitude
0	Wpt#1		44°30'28.94" N	123°16'52.30" W
°	Hydrant#1		44°30'30.23" N	123°16'55.22" W
°	Wpt#3		44°30'30.76" N	123°16'53.59" W
L				
L				
L				
ι.				
ι.				
L.,				

Double-click the desired waypoint, or highlight it and click on the **OK** button, to select the point. The **Select Feature to Log** dialog box will then be displayed.

Log at... > Map

The Log at... > Map function allows you to select a location from the Map View at which to log a new feature. Depending upon the selection for Stylus Use (Edit > Stylus Use), you may select a basemap feature or a logged data point.

When Pointer Use is set to **Basemap Feature**, you can select a feature from the active basemap layer. If the feature is a line or area, SOLO Office will select the point on the line or area closest to the point that you clicked.

When Pointer Use is set to **Logged Data**, you will be able to select a logged data point or waypoint by clicking on it in the Map View.



You may access several zoom and Display Options by clicking on the **Menu** button in the Map View.

Once you have selected the desired location, click on the **OK** button. The **Select Feature to Log** dialog box will then be displayed.

Log > Log a Waypoint

This menu option opens the Log a Waypoint screen where you can log a new point and append it to the current waypoint file. This menu option is only available if there is a waypoint file selected in the **File > Settings > Files** screen and if there is a valid position selected (GPS, Manual, Basemap Feature, Logged Data).

Enter the desired **Name** and **Comment** in the corresponding fields. The current position is displayed and can be modified if necessary. The **Last Waypoint** field displays the name of the last waypoint stored in the active waypoint file. Tap **Log Now** to append the new waypoint to the waypoint file.

Log > Sticky Log

For many applications, it may be useful to log the same feature continuously. For example, when mapping the boundary of a drainage field, it would save time if you did not have to specify that each point being logged be to be added to the drainage field. Log > Sticky Log allows you to bypass the Log a Point step.

- 1. Make sure that you are in manual, logged data or basemap stylus mode.
- Select Log > Sticky Log or tap on the Sticky Log button in the Forestry Toolbar and then tap on the desired location in the Map View (In manual mode, any location can be selected. In basemap mode, a basemap feature in the active layer must be selected. In

logged data mode, a logged feature, waypoint or CAD object must be selected). The **Select Feature to log** dialog box will be displayed.

- 3. Select the feature you wish to log and then enter the attribute data. Tap on the **OK** button to log the point and return to the Map View.
- 4. Now tap on the Map View again to log a new point for the same feature (In manual mode, any location can be selected. In basemap mode, a basemap feature in the active layer must be selected. In logged data mode, a logged feature, waypoint or CAD object must be selected). Each time you tap on the Map View, another point will be logged for the same feature.

Sticky Log will continue to log points on the Map View until you deselect it by Tapping on Log > Sticky Log or Tapping on the button a second time.

Log > End Feature

Line or Area features must be ended after the final point is stored to ensure that no additional points are added. To end a Line or Area feature, select Log > End Feature. The Logged items dialog box will be displayed.

Log	iged item	าร					X
Na	me	ID	Last Point	Туре	In Progress		
Σ	Fence	20	Fence#2	Line	Yes		
$\left \right\rangle$	Fence	21	Fence#1	Line	Yes		
L							
L							
L							
L							
L							
L							
L							
L							
L							
L							
L							
L							
L							
L							
L							
L							
L							
					Double tap	o on an item to select it.	
							ancei

If you had several features in progress to choose from, you could organize the list by feature name, last point name or feature type by clicking on the appropriate heading.

Double-click on the feature that you wish to end, or highlight it and click the **OK** button. After you double-click the feature, a dialog box will be displayed showing the total line length for a Line feature, or the perimeter and area for an Area feature.

The Tool Menu

The Tool menu provides creating and editing Feature Files, measurement tools and a grid generation function.

Tool > GPS Configure

The GPS Configure routine can be used to make changes to the current configuration of your GPS receiver and to check the communication status between your computer and your receiver.

When you select **Tool > GPS Configure**, the **GPS** dialog box will be displayed. Up to 7 different pages can be displayed within the dialog box, depending upon the receiver brand selected in the **Receiver** page of the **Settings** dialog box.

GPS			×
Reset N	MEA Mask	Settings DGPS / Beacon Stats	
	Restart	Restart the GPS serial I/O communications	
	Reset	Reset GPS to defaults, as possible for the current receiver.	
C	OM View	COM port ASCII activity viewer.	

Reset

This page provides restart and reset functions, and is available for all receivers.

Tap the **Restart** button to restart communications with the GPS receiver. This function will force SOLO Office to scan the COM port selected in the **Receiver** page of the **Settings** dialog box for the presence of a GPS receiver.

Tap the **Reset** button to return the GPS receiver to the default power-on settings. This function is only active if you have selected CSI, Sokkia, Starlink and Other in the **Receiver** page of the **Settings** dialog box.

Tap the **COM View** button to display the **Send/Receive Data** dialog box.

Send/Receive data via GPS COM port		X
	Send Capture Stop Clear Vie	w Save Chars
		endro
		-
र		

You can send a data string to your GPS receiver by entering the string into the blank field at the top of the dialog box and clicking the **Send** button.

Capture any incoming ASCII data by clicking on the **Capture** button.

Click the **View** button to see the captured data.

Stop the capture of data and view the results of the capture by clicking on the **Stop** button.

Clear the displayed information by clicking on the **Clear** button.

Save the captured data as a .LOG file for future playback in Emulation mode by clicking on the **Save** button.

Click on the X button to close the **Send/Receive Data** dialog box and return to the **Reset** page.

GPS							>
Reset	NMEA	Mask	Settings	DGPS ,	/ Beacon Sta	ats	
	A messag	je settin	gs				_
- Mes	ssage str	ings ena	abled	NOTE: 1	These NMEA f	unctions are not supported on all	
GG	A			GPS uni	ts.		
GS	A					1	
ZD	А			Press	Defaults	to set system defaults	
GL	L			of GGA	GSA, VTG, a	nd SAT or GSV on.	
VT	G				,,,		
SA	т					1 .	
GS	v			Press	Minimal	to set only GGA on.	
						•	

NMEA

This page displays the current status of the various NMEA strings in the column on the left side of this page. Three dots indicate that the status of the string is not known.

Click the **Defaults** button to set the GGA, GSA, and VTG and SAT or GSV strings on. These are the default NMEA strings used by SOLO. Changing NMEA output options of your GNSS device can only be done on certain brands.

Click the **Minimal** button to set only the GGA string on. This is useful if you will be logging data very quickly (1 point/second).

Note: Clicking the Minimal button will disable the Satellite Sky Plot.

Stats



This page displays the current statistics for the number of NMEA and Raw Data messages that have been received and rejected, as well as if any buffer overflows have occurred.

This information can be used to confirm that you are receiving messages from the GPS receiver.

Click the update button to update the page with information that has been collected since the page was opened.

Tap the **OK** button to close the dialog box and return to the Map View.

Tool > Offset/Traverse Options

This function lets you specify the method you wish to use for collecting position data with your laser rangefinder.

There are two pages you can configure depending on how the laser rangefinder will be used. If you will be using the laser rangefinder to support your GPS receiver, select the **GPS Offset Mode** page. If you will be using the laser rangefinder as a stand-alone data source, select the **Traverse Mode** page.

Since the options available in each section of the pages will vary depending on the selections made in the previous sections, you should make your selections in the same order that they appear on the screen; **Use** (if available), **Method**, and **Reference**.

GPS Offset Mode



Height of Instrument

Enter the height above the ground at which the laser rangefinder will be used. The unit designation for this field depends upon the selections in the **Settings** screen.

Use

Select **Allow Offsets** if you would like to use the offset functions. This selection will activate the **Laser Offset** button in the Map View.

Select **No Offsets** if you do not wish to use the offset functions. This selection will deactivate the **Laser Offset** button in the Map View.

Method

Select the method that you would like to use for calculating the position of the new point. Select **Range Triangulation** to input the distance between two GPS positions and the new point.

Select **Azimuth** to input the azimuth and distance between a GPS position and the new point. There are three options available if you select Azimuth.

Auto – Both the distance and the azimuth will be provided by the laser rangefinder. This option requires the use of a compass connected to the laser.

Manual – The distance is provided by the laser rangefinder and the azimuth is entered through the keyboard.

Walk to – The distance is provided by the laser rangefinder and the azimuth is determined by occupying a second GPS position along the line formed by the first GPS position and the new point.

Reference

Select the method that you would like to use for choosing the known point(s) that will be used in the calculation of the new point. Select **From GPS** to use the current GPS location for the known point(s).

Select **Last Point** to use the last logged point instead of the GPS position. This option is only available if you have selected Azimuth for the Method.

Traverse Mode

Height of Instrument

Enter the height above the ground at which the laser rangefinder will be used. The unit designation for this field depends upon the selections in the **Settings** screen.

Offset/Travers	e Options	
	Height of Instrument 0.00	m
GPS Offset Mode	Traverse Mode	
	Method C Range Triangulation C Horizontal Angle Azimuth C Auto C Manual C Continuous	Reference C Last Point © Select from Map

Method

Select the method that you would like to use for calculating the position of the new point. Select **Range Triangulation** if you want to input the distance between two known points and the new point.

Select **Horizontal Angle** if you will be using a laser rangefinder equipped with an angle encoder.

Select **Azimuth** to input the azimuth and distance between a known point and the new point. There are two additional options if you select Azimuth.

Auto – Both the distance and azimuth will be provided by the laser rangefinder. This option requires the use of a compass connected to the laser.

Manual – The distance is provided by the laser rangefinder and the azimuth is entered through the keyboard.

Reference

Select the method that you would like to use for choosing the known point(s) that will be used in the calculation of the new point. Select **Last Point** to use the last logged point as a reference. This option is only available if you have selected Horizontal Angle or Azimuth for the Method.

Select **Select from Map** to select a reference point from an existing map feature or to manually enter a coordinate location.

Tap the **OK** button to save any changes and return to the Map View.

Tool > Measure Tool

The Measure tool works interactively with the Map View to measure distances, angles, perimeters and areas. Select **Tool > Measure Tool > Enable**, or tap on the 🛎 button in the Mode Toolbar to activate the Measure tool. Once the Measure tool has been activated, you will be returned to the Map View.

Note: The Measure tool can only be used when Stylus Use is set to Manual or Logged Data.

Measuring Distance

The Measure tool allows you to initiate a measurement by tapping on any location in the Map View. The location will be marked on the Map View by a yellow circle. You may then tap on another location to define a line segment. SOLO Forest will calculate and display the distance between the two locations.



You may continue to tap on additional locations in the Map View, to define additional line segments. Each time a new location is selected, SOLO Forest will calculate and display the distance between the new location and the last location.

Note: If you select a logged feature when using the Measure tool, the coordinates for the feature will be used for the calculations.

In addition to the distance, SOLO Forest will also display the cumulative distance between all of the locations in a box in the lower left corner of the Map View. Once three locations have been selected, the area will also be displayed here.

Measuring Angles

To change from distance measurement to angle measurement, select **Tool > Measure Tool > Bearings**.



Instead of displaying the distance, SOLO Forest will now display the bearing between the two locations. The Total Length and Area will still be displayed in the lower left corner of the Map View.

Clearing Measurements

You may clear all of the existing measurements by either Tapping on the same location twice, or by selecting **Tool > Measure Tool > Clear and Start Over**. Turn the Measure tool off by selecting **Tool > Measure Tool > Enable**, or tapping on the 🗳 button again.

Tool > Generate Grid

SOLO Office will let you generate a grid over a selected Area feature, storing the grid points to a waypoint file for later use in the field. To generate a grid, first select the desired area feature by clicking on it in the Map View. The area feature can be either logged data or a basemap feature. Once the area feature has been selected, select **Tool > Generate Grid** to display the **Grid Generation** dialog box.

Grid Generation		
	Cell Parameters	
Cell Shape	Linear Units: Meters 💌	1
Square	Width: 30 Height: 30	ок
	OR Specify cell area: 900	
	OR Specify number of cells: 38	
Options	C with waypoints (inside area	
🔽 Output Grid Lines	C intersecting area	Cancel
Alignment Point	Grid orientation: 0 degrees	

Cell Shape

Choose between a square and hexagonal grid shape.

Cell Parameters

You can define the number of cells that should fit within the active area feature, or the size of the cells by providing the cell width and height, or the cell area, or the number of cells. These fields are linked together so changes in one will automatically compute the changes to the others.

The units for the cell size and area are selected in the Linear Units field.

You may also specify an orientation angle for the grid. The default is an orientation of 0, or North.

Options

You may choose to display the grid lines for the generated grid by checking the **Output Grid Lines** checkbox. Otherwise, only the grid points will be shown.

Labeling Order	×
Select labeling order -	
Sequential	
C Linear	
C Row , Column	
ОК	Cancel

Click the **Generate** button to generate the grid. The **Labeling Order** dialog box will be displayed if you have chosen the rectangular grid option. Select between sequential, linear and row/column order and click **OK**.

A standard Windows **Save As** dialog box will prompt you to enter the file name for the waypoint file containing the grid. Click the **Save** button to save the file and return to the Map View.

Note: You must have the SOLO Office set to display waypoints in order to see the new grid points. Select **View > Display Options** to display the **Select Display Options** dialog box and check the box for Waypoints.

Note: Generating a dense grid over a large area could take a long time, and could use a substantial amount of memory. SOLO Office will display an informational dialog box if the number of grid points to be generated is greater than 400 points.

You can remove a grid by clearing the Waypoint file field in the **Files** page of the **Settings** dialog box.

Tool > Buffer Feature

This menu option allows you to create a buffer around any existing feature. The options available when creating a buffer depend on the type of feature that a buffer is being created for, although the width of the buffer must be defined for any feature type. Once a buffer is created, it is stored as a UDF feature.

When a buffer is created for a line feature, you are provided with the option to create a buffer on either side of the line feature or both sides. For area features, a buffer can be created inside and/or outside the perimeter of the feature. When a point is selected, you are not asked to define a buffer type.



1. Select the feature that you want to create a buffer for and then tap **Tool > Buffer Feature**.

- 2. Enter the desired **Buffer Width** to define how far the buffer extends from the border of the feature.
- 3. Select the **Buffer Type** from the dropdown list to define if the buffer is to extend inside and/or outside of an area feature, or to the left, right, or both sides of a line feature.
- 4. Tap **Create Buffer** to draw the buffer in the Map View. Any changes can be made to the buffer settings and redrawn by tapping **Create Buffer** again. The buffer is not actually saved until you exit the screen by tapping **OK**.

Tool > Polygons > Split

This menu option allows you to split an existing area feature into two separate features. The separation can be defined using an existing line feature, the vertices of two nodes on the original feature, or by drawing a freehand line through the feature with a stylus (Redline). The two new features that result from a split will retain the attributes of the original parent polygon and you have the choice of keeping or removing the original feature after it is split.

The split function can be performed on UDF and SHP area features only. Basemap UDF splitting is not supported.

1. Select the area feature that you want to split and then select **Tool > Polygons Split**.



- 2. Select how you want to split the feature from the **Split Method** dropdown list. Each method is described below.
 - a. **Feature**: This option allows you to select an existing line feature that bisects the active area feature to define where to split the active area feature.
 - b. **Redline**: When this option is selected, you can draw a line through the active area feature using a stylus to define where the split is to occur.
 - c. Vertices: This option allows you to define the split between two existing nodes on the active area feature. Tap the first node and then tap **Set First Pt**. Tap the second node and then tap **Set Second Pt**. A line will then automatically be drawn between the two nodes.
- 3. If **Keep Original** is left unchecked, the original area feature will be deleted after the two new features are created. If checked, the original feature will not be deleted.
- 4. When the bisecting line is defined, tap **Split** to split the active area feature into two new area features.

If any mistake is made during the Split routine, tapping **Clear**, or selecting a different split method, will reset the changes.

Tool > Polygons > Merge

This menu option allows you to merge two existing area features into a single feature as long as the two selected area features touch or overlap.



The merge function can be performed on UDF and SHP area features only. Basemap UDF merging is not supported.

- 1. Tap an area feature that you want to merge with another area feature and then tap **Set First Feature**.
- 2. Tap another area feature that you want to merge with the previously selected area feature and then tap **Set Second Feature**.
- 3. If you want to keep the original features, check the **Keep Original Features** checkbox. Leaving this unchecked will delete the two original features when they are combined into a new single feature.
- 4. Tap Merge to merge the two selected features into a single feature.

If any mistake is made during the Merge routine, tapping **Clear** will reset the changes.

Tool > Run SoloBasic Script

This menu option allows you to run a SoloBasic script. SoloBasic is an interpretative scripting language that allows people to completely customize SOLO with no additional tools or compilers. Contact your local Trimble representative for more information on SOLOBasic.

Tool > Customize

The **Tool > Customize** menu option allows you to toggle on and off the display of all the available pull-down menu options in SOLO Office. When you select this menu option, the **Menu Customization** dialog box will be displayed.
Menu Customization	X
 P-&File P&repare B-&Edit B-&Edit B-&Uew B-&Log B-&Log B-&Log B-&Log B-&Help 	-
Save Cancel Enable All	

Each of the seven pull-down menus is listed in a familiar Windows format. Click on the \boxdot symbol next to each menu name to expand the menu and display the available options.

Each item in the menu has a checkbox indicating whether the item will be displayed in SOLO Office when the menu is selected. You may change the status of the checkbox by double clicking on the item.

Menu items that have additional options, such as View Stylus Use, will be displayed with another \pm symbol. These menus may also be expanded by clicking on the \pm symbol.

You may click on the **Enable All** button to make sure that all of the menu items will be displayed.



Click on the **Save** button to save any changes and return to the Map View.

Editing Collected Data

This section of the manual will discuss the different ways in which you may edit data that is stored in your project file. SOLO Office allows you to edit both the point location and the attribute information for a feature.

Typing in new Coordinates

You can change a point's location by typing in new coordinates by following the procedure below.

- 1. Make sure that the Pointer Use is set to logged data by selecting **View > Pointer Use > Logged Data** or by clicking on the **Pointer Logged Data** button on the Toolbar.
- Select the point whose location you wish to move by double clicking on it in the Map View or by selecting Edit > Logged Data > Logged Points and then selecting it from the list in the Logged Items dialog box. The Logged Data Info dialog box will be displayed.



3. Click on the Edit button to display the Edit Point Location dialog box.

Edit Point Location		X
Enter the new loca	ation for the point:	
Lat:	44.331019	
Long:	-123.155864	
Elevation:	0.00	ft
Format in Degrees	Minutes Seconds: DDD.MMS	555
	OK Cancel	

- 4. Enter the new coordinates and the elevation by highlighting the field and typing in the new values.
- 5. When you are satisfied with the entered data, click on the **OK** button to accept the changes. You will be prompted that the changes will be made and returned to the **Logged Data Info** dialog box.
- 6. Click the **OK** button to return to the Map View.

Editing Attributes

You can edit the attributes for a logged point by following the steps below.

Note: The Feature code that was used when the point was originally logged must be in the Feature file that is currently in use in order to edit the attributes of the point. All of your original menu selection items will be available.

- 1. Make sure that the Pointer Use is set to logged data by selecting View > Pointer Use > Logged Data or by clicking on the Pointer Logged Data button on the Toolbar.
- Select the point whose attributes you wish to edit by double clicking on it in the Map View or by selecting View > Logged Features and then selecting it from the list in the Logged Items dialog box. The Logged Data Info dialog box will be displayed.

Logged Data Info				
Feature Points Links				
		Attributes:		
Name:	Hyd	Name AREA	Value 0.000000	
ID #:	18	PERIMETER HYDRANT_	0.000000 0	
Туре:	Point	HYDRANT_ID ACAD_HAND	0	
Number of points:	1	HYD_NUM		
Delete Edit/View	Go To	DBJN OBJN PNTANGLE PRO1	0.00 0 0.00	
		SYS_ID	0	

- 3. Click on the **Feature** tab to make sure that the feature and attribute information is displayed.
- 4. Click on the Edit button to display the Edit Feature Attribute Values dialog box.

Edit Feature Attribute ¥alues	
@ AREA	0.000000
@ PERIMETER	0.000000
@ HYDRANT_	0
@ HYDRANT_ID	0
@ ACAD_HAND	
@ HYD_NUM	
@ LABANGLE	0.00
@ OBJN	0
@ PNTANGLE	0.00
@ PROJ_	
@ SYS_ID	0

- 5. You may edit any of the attributes within the limits of the parameters established in the Feature File.
- 6. Click on the **OK** button to save the changes and return to the **Logged Data Info** dialog box.
- 7. Click on the **OK** button to return to the Map View.

112

Deleting Points

You may delete points from the current project by using the following steps. Points that have been deleted will be removed from the Map View, and will be excluded from any calculations and any exported files.

DELETED POINTS CANNOT BE RECOVERED!

- 1. Make sure that the Pointer Use is set to logged data by selecting **View > Pointer Use > Logged Data** or by clicking on the **Pointer Logged Data** button on the Toolbar.
- Select the point that you wish to delete by double-clicking on it in the Map View or by selecting Edit > Logged Data > Logged Points and then selecting the point from the list in the Logged Items dialog box. The Logged Data Info dialog box will be displayed.

Logged Data Info Feature Points L	.inks				X
Name AreaFeature#1 AreaFeature#2 AreaFeature#3 AreaFeature#4	ID 30 31 32 33	Date 06/07/2002 06/07/2002 06/07/2002	Time 10:05:09 AM 10:05:18 AM 10:05:23 AM 10:05:28 AM	Name: ID #: Date: Time: Status: PDOP/SNR: # Averaged: Lat: Long: Elevation: Delete	AreaFeature#3 32 06/07/2002 10:05:23 AM MANUAL 1 1 123°15'57.01" W 0.00 ft Edit Re-Order
					Cancel

- 3. Click on the **Delete** button to remove the point from the current project.
- 4. You will be prompted to confirm that you wish to delete the point. Click the **Yes** button to confirm the deletion and return to the Map View.

Re-ordering Points

SOLO Office will allow you to re-order the points that make up a Line or Area feature by using the following steps.

1. Make sure that the Pointer Use is set to logged data by selecting View > Pointer Use > Logged Data or by clicking the Pointer Logged Data button on the Toolbar.

 Select the point that you wish to re-order by double clicking on it in the Map View or by selecting View > Logged Features and then selecting it from the list in the Logged Items dialog box. The Logged Data Info dialog box will be displayed.

3. Click on the **Re-Order** button to display the **Re-Order Points** dialog box.

- 4. The ID of the point to which has been selected for re-ordering will be displayed on the right side of the dialog box.
- 5. Select a point from the list by clicking on it. The point selected for re-ordering will be inserted immediately before the highlighted point.
- 6. You may also click on the **To End** button to move the selected point to the end of the list.
- 7. Click on the **OK** button to make the change and return to the **Logged Data Info** dialog box.

8. Click the ${\bf OK}$ button to return to the Map View.

Redlining

The Redlining function allows you to draw over the top of the basemaps, images and logged data in your project. The Redlining function also allows you to drop notes into your project that are not referenced to a specific feature.

To use the Redlining function, click on the **Redlining** button in the Mode Toolbar, or select **View** > **Pointer Use** > **Freehand Redlining**. Once you are in Redlining mode, you can make freehand drawings or drop notes using your mouse pointer.

The Redlining objects and notes will be added to and stored in a "CAD" layer within your project, and you have the ability to change the properties of each redlining object, as well as adding attributes to the object.

Freehand Redlining

When you are in Redlining mode you can make freehand drawings by clicking and holding the right mouse button and dragging the mouse pointer along the line you wish to draw. A red line three pixels wide will be placed as you drag the mouse pointer.



Redlining Object Properties

To view and edit the properties of a redlining object you must be in Logged Data mode. Select **View > Pointer Use > Logged Data** or click on the **Logged Data** button in the Mode Toolbar. Once you are in Logged Data mode, double-click on the redlining object to display the **CAD Object Info** dialog box.

CAD Object Info		×
Properties		Attributes
Туре:	POLYLINE	Name Value
Draw color:		
Fill color:	-	
Line Width: 3		
Transparent		Edit New Delete

You can change the color of the redlining object by clicking on the **Draw Color** button.

You can change the line width of the redlining object by entering a new value in the Line Width field.

You can also add attribute information by clicking on the **New** button, then entering the attribute and the value.

You can add as many attributes as necessary by clicking on the New button.

AD Object Info				×
Properties		Attributes		
Type:	POLYLINE	Name	Value	
Draw color:	•	Multi-plot	3 new plots	
Fill color:	~			
Line Width:	3			
Transparen		Edit New	Delete	

After an attribute has been added, the **Edit** and **Delete** buttons will become active. Highlight the attribute that you wish to edit or delete and click on the appropriate button.

Click on the X in the upper right hand corner of the dialog box to close it and return to the Map View.

Redlining Notes

The redlining function also provides the ability to drop notes onto the map view. When you are in redlining mode, click once on the Map View at the point where you wish to drop a note, then select **Drop a Note** from the menu that is presented. The **Note** dialog box will be displayed.

Note					×
Enter your notes:	🔽 Iconify	1	Quick-pick List:		
		\$			
		_			
•					
Add to Quick-Pick List	t OK		F	lemove	Clear All

You can type your note into the left-hand column in the **Note** dialog box, or you can select items from the Quick-pick list in the right-hand column by double-clicking on them.

If you would like to add a time/date stamp to your note, click on the alarm clock button.

By default, your note will be indicated by an icon in the Map View. If you would like to display the entire body of the note, uncheck the box labeled **Iconify**.

Click on the **OK** button to save the note and return to the Map View.

Quick-pick List

You can generate a Quick-pick List of note entries for easier data entry. To create the Quick-pick List, first enter the note text in the left-hand column. Then click the **Add to Quick-Pick List** button. The note text should then appear in the right-hand column. The next time you drop a note, the note that was added during the previous note should be listed in the Quick-Pick List.

Note: The note must be saved by clicking the OK button in order for the Quick-Pick List to be updated.

You can remove an individual entry to the Quick-pick List by highlighting it and clicking on the **Remove** button.

You can clear the Quick-Pick List by clicking on the Clear All button.

Deleting Redlining Objects

There are two options for deleting redlining objects; **Delete Last Mark** and **Clear All Marks**. Both options are available by clicking once in the Map View while you are in Redlining mode.

Delete Last Mark

Click once in the Map View, then select **Delete Last Mark** to remove the most recent redlining object. This function will delete the last redlining object added to the Map View, whether it is a redline object or a note.

Clear All Marks

Click once in the Map View, then select **Clear all Marks** to remove all of the redlining object (redlines and notes) from your project.

Index

Active Layer85
Adding Attributes
from an existing DBF file 28
Area Units19
ASCII Export39
Attribute
Serial Input34
Azimuth103, 104
Basemap73
Active Layer85
Display Options80
Labels83
Layer Properties80
buffer feature107
CAD object68
Change a Point's Location
Typing in new Coordinates113
COM View101
Configuring your GPS Receiver
Coordinate Box87
Coordinate System
Copy to UDF Feature68
Creating a new Feature File26
Creating a Zone File51
Custom Coordinate Systems54
Customizing SOLO Office110
Data Folder23
Data Link32
Datums51
Delete64
Deleting Points115
Displaying a Basemap73
Displaying a Raster Image 83

Distance Units 18
Edit Feature Codes 25
Edit Menu 63
Editing Attributes 114
Editing Collected Data 113
Ellipsoid 52
Emulation Mode 24
Ending Feature in Progress99
Epoch 22
Examine/Edit UDF 48
Export 37
Feature
Ending 99
in Progress
Feature Attributes
Feature File23
Editing25
Feature Filter 88
File Menu 15
File Transfer 42
Project File List 44
Remote File List 43
Find Feature 89
Forms 35
Generate Grid 106
Geodetic Conversion 55
Geoid 51
GPS Receiver
Brand Name24
Grid 106
Height of Instrument 103
Hemisphere21
Horizontal Angle 104

Horizontal Datum20
HPGN20
Hyperlink33
Hyperlinks89
Image Compression59
Image Preparation59
Large Buttons87
Laser Configuration 102
Line Offset70
Linking Attributes31
Log
At a Known Point95
Log a Point93
Manual93
Log at
Мар97
Point96
Waypoint96
Log Menu93
Logging Points93
Through the Touch Screen93
Measure104
Merge49
merge feature109
Microsoft ActiveSync11
Mode Toolbar87
Move64
Moving a Basemap Point
Using an existing Point67
Using GPS66
Using the Touch Screen 66
Moving a Basemap Typing in new Coordinates67
Moving a Point
Using GPS64

Using the Touch Screen 65
Natural Zone 20
NAVD8852
NGS NADCON 20
NGVD2952
Office Menu 37
Open 15
Orthometric Height 52
Package File List 46
Pan 72
PDOP 22
Projection Systems 51
Range Triangulation 103, 104
Raster Image 83
Redlining118
Redlining Notes 119
Reference 103
Re-Ordering Points 115
Reverse Line 69
Satellite Sky Plot 87
Select Feature To Log Dialog Box
Serial Input 34
Settings Dialog Box
Files Page 22
Laser Page 25
Logging Page 21
Receiver Page 23
Zone Page 19
Settings Dialog Box
General Page 18
Info Page 17
Shapefile Extract 56
SOLO Package File 15
SOLO Package File 45
SPF 15

split feature	.108
State Plane 1983	20
Status Line	87
Sticky Log	98
Stylus Use	63
Tool Menu	.100
UDF	15
UDF File Browser	47

View Menu 71
View Options Dialog Box 86
Viewing Options 86
Waypoint 49
Waypoint File 23
Waypoints 86
Zone File21, 52
Zoom Toolbar 87



Trimble Navigation Limited

345 SW Avery Avenue Corvallis, OR 97333 USA

